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29771 ¥ Reference was made to the affidavit of the wit-
ness where he referred to a document accepted by the
Premier, Foreign, War and Navy linlsters on 1 Cctober
1937. When shown a document, he stated that 1t bore
the signatures or seals of those four Ministers, was
dated 1 October 1937 and was the document he referred

tO.

29772 *+ Exhibit 3262, "An Outline regarding the settle-
ment of the China Incident", the document telng identi-
fied by the witness, stated that the present incident
would be speedily concluded through the efforts of
armed forces combined with diplomatic action and making

29773 china abolish anti-Japanese and pro-Communistic *
nolicies and establishing brigl.t and lasting friendship
with China. They would make harmony and co-prosperity
between Japan and Manchurla and China the main objective,
To withstand lengthy use of military force, necessary

measures would be taken.

The objective of military operations was
China's speedy relinguishment of hostile intentions.
Occupation of any voints and other necessary operations
. would be taken to achieve this. The objective of

diplomatic measures would be to urge China's reconsid-

eration of her hostile attitude and induce her into a
position they desired. With China and third oowers,
negotiations and operations would be carried out. On
concluding the incident, Chilna wourd be made to give
up anti-Japanese and pro-Communistic policies and diplo-
matic negotiations would be conducted along lines of
epoch making diplomatic read justment unbiased by past

circumstances.
29774 * I- cmpeoying military, diplomatic and other
necessary meac...3, utmost care should be exercised not

to overstep international law. The principal areas
where land forces would operate were mainly Hopeh-Chahar
and Shanghai. In areas where necessary,sea and air
operations would be conducted. To make operations
smooth and to cope with a possibility of a change for
the worse in the international situation, nationwide
mobilization, wartime laws and realization of durable

national unity would be resorted to.
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29775

29776

29777

29778

Solution of the North China problem aimed at
realization and COo~prosperity among Japan and China
and Manchuria with its major objective to make North
China.-a wsneerful district under * the Chinese Central
Government.

In Cent:«l and South China, they looked for-
ward to a situation sultable for the advancement of
Sino~Japanese cornmerce., kleasures taken 1in regard to
I'ear coeration zones in North China would shake off
the idea of its being occupied enemy territory. 1In
that zone no administration would be conducted but
security would be maintained under military forces,
The administrative organization would be left to
independent native organization but proper guldance
would be given to make it g bright institution,

The management of communicatlon and exvnloita-
tion of natural resources necessary for military
burposes would be carried out under necessary con-
trol., * However, the last two points would not affect
read justment talks or diplomatic relations taking
Place a’ .r the amicable settlement,

¥ Matters relating to commerce, economics
and finance between Japan, China and thirg powers
would be regulated with the main objective making
China give up her hostile attitude.

Diplomatic policies toward third powers
and various connected operations would, along with
having third powers entertain gocuwlll toward them,
voluntarily be executed so as no. to brew conflict
or invite interference. In carrying out military
operations and other measures, utmost care should
be exercised to comply with the main objective,

* Rellef would be administered to Japanese
residents and concrete Plans for these provisions
would be decided separately., Regarding conditions
for the settlement of the situation, demilitarized
Zones would be established in North China, A de-
militarized area would be SO established where public
peace and order would be entrusted to restrictedly-
armed Chinese police. |
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29772

29780

29781

The minimum of Japanese demands in North China
was that if necessary Japan would reveal her intentions
to reduce voluntarily as much as possible the number of
occupation troops, limiting it to the number at the out-
break of the Inciéent.

* Another minimum demand was the Tangku Truce
with the various arrangements concluded in accordance
with 1t., Those arrangements, such as seizure of the
Gateways of the Great Wall, through railway traffic,
establishment of custom houses, mail service, and air .
service would be excepted and the DOHTHARA-Chin-T-Chen
Agreement and UMEZU-Youing-Chin Agreement would be dis-
solved. Central forces in Hopei would be withdrawn.
Control over anti-Japanism and prevention of Bolshevi-
zation in the demilitarized areas would be strictly

enforced.

The Hopel-Chahar and Eastern Hopel Councils
would be abolished and administration would be con-
ducted by the Nanking Government, but it was desirable
that administrative leaders of the area be influential
for bringing about realization of Sino-Japanese friendly
relations. Japan would make an agreement aiming at eco=-
nomic collaboration with China., The collaboration ce-
pended upon joint management on an equal footing.

* A designated demilitarized zone around
Shanghai would be established where international
police or restrictedly-armed Chinese police would be
responsible for peace and order, assisted by the
Settlement Municipal Police. It would be unnecessary
except for the anchorage of warships for each country
to retain land forces in the settlement. Simultaneously
or subsequent to the truce parleys, negotiations for
readjusting Sino-Japanese relations would be conducted
without being influenced by past affairs. Upon the
conclusion of the intended truce parley, the two
countries would issue a statement that they had entered
upon a new deal to bring about close friendship.

* China would grant formal recognition to
Manchukuo, an Anti-Comintern Pact would be concluded
and especially strict control would be enforced in the

North China demilitarized zone,
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Page In addition to the abolition of the Hopel-

Chahar Council and Eastern Hopei Regime, Japan, with
regard to Inner Mongolia, would try to persuade China
to concede to Japan's righteous demands in that area,
recognize the present status of Prince Teh in the SI
and CHA Banners which would be made a mutual zone.

China would undertake control over anti-
Japanism and effect the Ordinance of Friendly Rela-
tions with Powers, especially in demilitarized areas.

29782 * Free aerial flights would be abollshed,
custom tariffs would be reduced and kastern Hopeil
special trade would be abolished and restoration to
the Chinese of freedom to control smuggling in the
sea off the demilitarized areas would be made.

The plan regarding settlement of the situa-
tion was to minimize danger of future conflict by
establishing demilitarized zones and removing deep-
rooted causes for clashes by readjusting diplomatic

relations.

Pending issues were to be soived through
normal conversions, as establishing cheerful dinlo-
29783 matic relations. : Along with the expansion of the
aspects of war, the people's expectation of the
fruits of war would grow larger and they would be
anxious to secure more tangible conditions, such as

indemnities. Accordingly, they must be consistent
and broad minded in the cattlement of the situation

but at the same time they must negotlate on read just-
ing diplomatic relations. .

Regarding such conditions, indemnities for
direct damages to Japanese properties and rights
which China had assumed responsibility for protecting,

and direct damages due to illegal use or disvosal
by China of Japanese owned properties and rights would

be required.

Another such condition was the formation and
operation of a large scale Sino-Japanese Jjoint syndi-
29784 cate engaged in * marine transportation and aviatlon.
Whether air service between Asia and Burope was to be
operated by the syndlcate and whether 1t was to be
dealt with in a special negotiatlon required further
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Page study. However, for the present, the Asia-European
Air Service would be amalgamated into the syndicate

with German holdings in the company bought up by Japane

The syndicate would also operate railroads,including
the Shangtung Railroad and Tsingshih Railways. It

29785 *+ Settlement of pending 1 ssues would come
in the following order:

(1) Conclusion of 2 sino-Japanese tariff
treaty with reduction oT removal of import and export

dutiles,

(2) Removal oT modifications of the ban
and restrictlions on import and export,

(3) Removal of restrictions on the pro-

29786 x+ Another document was handed the witness,
and he stated 1t was on stationery customarily used

by the Foreign Office.

When 1t was suggested that it came from
Foreign Office files, he stated he had no basils
upon which to confirm its authenticity since it did
not bear the signatures of the Foreign Minister,

With respect to the document, he had no
positive recollection and ~hen asked if he recognized
1t as a decision reached by the three ministries,

inecluding the foreign, he stated he could not reply
as he had no assurance as to its authentlicity or

correctnesse.

Regarding the account of the negotiatlons
he included in his affidavit, it was {mpossible to

remember all detalls. He could say there may have
been such a thing as the decision mentioned in the

document but he nad no positive recollection whether
+he document {tself was a result of discussions.

29788 * Based upon the document, the witness was
asked if HIROTA, together with the War and Navy
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29790

Ministers in October 1937, decided that Japan would
reject intervention or arbitration founded on placing
Japan in the position of a defendant. The witness
stated it was the fixed policy to reject intervention
or arbitration by third powers. When asked 1if those
three ministers on October 22, two days after the
flrst invitation to the Brussels Conference, im-
mediately decided to reject the Invitation, he stated
he dld not know whether it was two days later, but the
government declded to reject it,

The witness was quoted the statement which
sald that with the advance of the military movement,
when 1ts purpose should be practically attained, the
Nanking Government would under pressure of force
want to sue for peace.

When asked if the three ministers decided
thls, he stated he had no recollection whether it
was declded that China would be forced to take such
measures by pressure,

* It was not true that this was the whole
object from the beginning.

Asked 1f the three ministers on that day
desired that when the purpose of the military move-
ment was practically attained, the good offices
of the U,S., Britain and other third parties would
be advantageous, he stated that he thought 1t was
thelr policy, that this would be welcome if the
means were proper,

The good offices of Germany and Italy
were welcome and HIROTA also welcomes those of the

U.S. and Britain.

* Asked if the three ministers decided on
or about 22 October 1937 to refuse to exclude
hasty intervention or arbitration by third parties,
the witness sald it was Japan's policy to reject
intervention or arbitration whether it was early
or late. The good offices of third parties were
always welcome, but the policy of the government
was to effect fundamental settlement through direct
negotiations with China. Asked if they decided that
they might accept the services of third parties

Page 4668
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: Page when Japan had nearly achieved the purpose of her
military movements, he stated that as far as Forelgn
29791 Office authorities were concerned * the purpose of
military operatlons was to protect the lives and
interests of Japan and when that purpose was realized
Japan was prepared to accept.

Asked if by October 22, the situation had
got far beyond any gquestion of orotecting anything,
the witness stated Japanese interests were to be
found throughout China. Asked if that was a suffi-
cient excuse for occupying all China, he stated that
complete occupation of that large territory would be
impossible but they believed that their purnpose could
be carried out by occupying important points.

Asked if they were not willing to accept
the services of third parties until the military
purnose had been nearly achieved, the witness stated
+hat informal negotiations were already Iin progress
and if the meeting of the three ministers mentioned
actually took place, he would presume that when the
oroper time came they would 1like to nlace negotiations
on an official level.

+ 29792 * The witness was asked 1f they declded not
. to publish their intention of accevting third

parties' services OT make known to forelgn govern-
ments because that would indicate weakness within
Japan. He stated +hat such a possibllity could
exist as such precautions are comnon in diplomatic
practice, He thought that was HIROTA's volicy at
that time but he did not recall that they decided
on that day that they would only notify the policy
beforehand to Germany and Italy. He did not recall
that they decided that they would have another meet-
ing to decide hen the purpose of military movements
toward China had nearly been accomplished and when
they should notify Germany and Italy of the policye.

239793 ¥ The witness was asked 1f after these
guestions from the document which had been hancded
him were put, if he still doubted as to whether it
was an authentic Foreign Office document. He stated
+hat what he had said in reply to such questions came
rrom his recollection and he could not say more. He
recalled a meeting at the end of October, in which
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HIROTA invited a number of industrialists to tea. The

witness attended the meeting and at that time there
was an anti-British movement in Japan. The witness
was quoted a statement from a document that the anti-
British movement was VeTrYy bad. If England was dis-
regardec¢, there would be no country that would act as
29794 an intermediary with China. * If such things were
done, the government would be troubled. In the end
® they might have to fight England or collide with her
sometime, but such things were absolutely out of the
question right now. Diplomatically, if such things
were done, the government would be greatly incon-
venienced. The witness was asked if HIROTA said this
to the industrialists. The witness replied he did
not recall all HIROTA said on that occaslion but
HIROTA did say that 1nasmuch as Britaln was the most
proper country to bring about reconciliation with
China, the anti-British movement would be trouble-

some and embarrassing.

The witness did not recall his saylng
that in the end they might have to fight England.
He would be surprised if he himself had told
HARADA that HIROTA had said that.

&® 29795 %+ Asked if HIROTA had not 1n the previous

sortnight agreed with the War and Navy Ministers
that it would be much better to have Germany and
Italy as intermedlary, the witness stated he had no
recollection but HIROTA had no objection to using
those two countries for the purpose. However,
HIROTA constantly stated it was not proper nor
offective to rely only on Germany and Italye.

Ambassador Craigie told HIROTA chiat even
after the good offices of Germany and Italy were
requested inasmuch as they would not have the trust
of China, it would be more advantageous and effec-
tive to rely upon the good offices also of the U.S.
and Britain. HIROTA replied that he heartlly

approved of this suggestion.

29796 *+ HIROTA in no case ever entrusted sole
responsibility for negotiations to any Ambassador
29797 Dirksen. * The witness did recall that HIROTA did
ask Dirksen to undertake negotiationse. The witness
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recall whether HIROTA received a visit shortly before
the 5th of November from Craigie as he frequently
visited HIROTA.

Asked if HIROTA said that in view of anti-
British agitations, he thought that England would
not be the best country to conduct the negotiations,
the witness stated that his recollection was that
it might have been difficult if Britain alone handled
the matter. Asked if HIROTA said England was the
most suitable country and nothing could be settled
if Germany and Italy came into the picture, the wit-
ness sald he thought such a conversation was possible
because HIROTA always thought Britain was the most
reliable to serve as mediator. *

Asked 1f HIROTA said that immediately
after he had asked Dirksen to initiate negotiations,
he stated there was no objection to Germany and
Britain participating together but he thought he
recalled HIROTA telling Craigie that there were no
objections to their working together. Because of
the army's opposition to British mediation, the
witness recalled HIROTA telling Craigie he would
like to have him talk over the matter with Dirksen
and to take a cooperative role,

The attention of the Court was called to
Exhibits 270, 486 and 2235.
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* The witness stated he did not have the letter
referred to in his affidavit, which HIROTA received from
Dirksen, and did not know what had become:of the letter.
e recelved the account of the conversation between HIROTA
and Dirksen from HIROTA, but was not present himself.

* He did not know if some time in November or
early December the army stole 1 telegram between Dirksen
and Trautmann. Asked if the army discovered the terms
and sald that owing to the advance which Japarese armles
had made the terms would have to be stiffened, the witness
stated he did hear there was a certain element in the army
holding such opinions. HIROTA did not agree to stiffen the
terms. He asked Ambassador Dirksen to use his good offices
on the conditions agreed upon between the Foreign, var,
and Navy Ministries. From the beginning, there was an
element, especially among younger officers in the General
Staff, opposed to these terms, and they said the Foreign
Minister's attitude should be firmly opposed.

* Tre witness did not recall if, a few days
before the fall of Nanking on 13 December, the Japanese
Cabinet decided that when Nanking fell they would issue a
statement of non-recognition of Chiang's government. Asked
if 1t were true that HIROTA, at a Cabinet meeting on 18
December, brought up the terms he had submitted to Dirksen
and a detailed proposal of terms for China., the witness
stated he didn't remember those proposals were nresented €
that Cabinet conference or not,

He did not recall if the General Staff at that
date put forward the view tkat war in China must be stopped .
at the earliest moment., He did not know 1f they gave as
their reason the necessity to prepare for war against
Russia. * He did not know if they insisted that the full
terms in detail which Japan was prepared to accept, should
be put before China.

The witness stated he could testify as to whatever
HIROTA told tim as far as he could remember, but he didn't
remember HIROTA's saying anything about the Cabinet meeting
of 18 December, * Regarding the manner in which he got
information from HIROTA, it was‘necessary to divide the
prohlem into two parts. First was the question of whether

HIROTA thought it necessary to tell the witness of what

transpired' on every occasion, and he would not go so far as
to say that HIROTA always . .told him all he had on his mind.
The second auestion was whether the witness remembered all
HIROTA told him. :

!
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29808

29810

* Asked if it was not necessary for him as Vice

inister to know whether the terms to be presented to

China were che detailed terms of what Japan was really
going to insist upon, he stated that he remembered that
HIROTA told him of the Cabinet decision in relation to

the terms and HIRCTA handed notes of the Cabinet decision
tn him. He didn't remember whether the detalls of the
torms were discussed in the Cabinet meeting of the 18th
or 20th. “hen asked where the notes were that HIROTA
pave him the witness stated he had meant that HIROTA
handed them to Dirksen.

HIROTA did not tell the witness that the Cabinet,
at the insistance chiefly of KIDO, had refused the General
Staff's proposal for lenilent and detailed terms to China,
and had insisted that only the four vague terms should be
oresented. ¥ HIROTA did not tell the witness that he
agreed with the proposal that only vague terms should be
ziven the Chinese. The witness stated he was not present

at the Liaison conference on 20 December, but got his
information about it from HIROTA. Asked if HIROTA told

him that on that occasion the General Staff had expressed
strongly for immediate peace with China, the witness stated
he had not heard of that, HIROTA had, up to 2 December,
continued to inform the German Ambassador that the same
terms he had offered before were still open.

* The witness did not remember exactly if a
Cabinet meeting was held on 21 December. (Exhibit 2259).
Asked if there was not immediately after the T.l27s0n
conference of 20 December a Cabinet meeting which settled
the draft of the answer to Dirksen witci regard to the
negotiations, he stated that he rem-mbered that new terms
were presented to Dirksen and that his further good offices
were requested. According to his recollection, the terms
were the ‘four general principles. It was also decided that
if necessary additional exnlanations could be given by
HIROTA. and the points on which the explanations were to
he made were also decided. * He repeated that what was
rresented to the German Ambassador were these four terms.

As to the detailed explanation, some of them
related to unfortifled zones, specifying them, and there
were also details of demilitarized areas around Shanghal.
In relation to reparations, explanations were made that
they would be asked for damage suffered by Japanese
nationals, the government, and other publiec organizations.
It was further explained %hat these were reparations and

not indemnities.
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Pace + Detalls about economic relations among Japan,

29511 Manchukuo, and China, concerned import and export duties
and postal communications. He had heard that HIROTA
received a reply from Dirksen stating that the four terms,
together with the additional oral explanations, had been
transmitted to the Chinese Government through Ambassador
Trautmann in China. HIROTA told the witness that details

were transmifted at that time.

29812 2+ When asked if there was a Cabinet meeting on
24 December, 1937, which decided the outline of measures
for the China Incident, the witness stated he remembered

that some time about then, this outline was decided on.

The witness was shown a document and asked 1if it were a

record of the Foreign Office of such a declsion. He

stated that it was not on of ficial paper and there was O
59813 signature or seal on it. * The title of the document was

"Pre Outline of Measures for the China Incident", and he
o914 * recognized it as a copy of the decislons.

29817 + Exhibit 3263, the "Outline of Measures for the
China Incident™ and tDecision of the Cabinet Council on

o4 December, 1937, being the document identified Dby the
witness. stated that since the outbreak of the China

29818 * Incident, the government hoped Nanklng would abandon
{ts anti-Japanese and pro-comnunis® policy and act in
concert and contribute to stabilization in East Asia.
Tf China would reconsider they would strive with her to
save the situation, but they must be prepared for China's
advocating further resistance and showing no sign of
reconsideration.

with the development of ~neir military activities,

the occupational area had become extensive and it was
necessary to carry out {ts management. They should not
necessarily expect a conclusion of the negotiations with
Nanking, but in order to CODE with the resistance they
should take measures according to the following policy

in North and Central China. The purport of this policy
should be declared to the world at a suitable occasion.

1ishment of an anti-communistic, pro-Japanese and Manchurian
regime, and inseparable relation between Japan China, and
Yanchuria, economically. They should promote these objects
and strengthen this regime, which should be supervised to
become the leading power of a new China.

1
?’ 29819 + Tn North China they should aim at the estab-
)
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Page In case the negotiations with the Nanking

government were concluded, this new regime should be

ad justed according to peace conditlions. It was of vital
importance toO oreate a new North China regime capable of
winning public confidence, both 1n North, Central, and
gouth China. The 1eaders of the regime should have the
confidence of all China, and the regime should have an
organizestlon appropriate for the new era. It should
maintain an outiline of policy worthy of being advocated to

all China.
Regarding supervision of the regime, this should
e done according to a policy of non-interference 1n the

29820 * particulars of administration, bul restricted to internal
supervision by Japanese advisers. The areas to be included

operationé, but should mainly be'ﬂopei, Shantung, Shanhsi,

For the time belng, they should not Dbe concerned

with the concessions, to avoid disputes wilcth third countries,

put outside the conzessions they should, even before
establishing the new regime, supervise things to complete

administrative organs with regard to customs, considerations

should be made separately.

The object of the economic development 1in North
thina should be to strengthen the T= -ticn of Japanese and
29821 Manchuria economy, and establish thc foundation for CoO-
prosperity among those two nation:s and China Tney should
develop every line of economy DY combinine Chinese capltal
with their capital and technique and thereby strive for
peace and stabilization and contribute the development of
production of necessary materials for national defense in
Japan and Manchukuo. .

They should pay attention to the harmonization
of international revenues and disbursements and the adjust-
ment of supply and demand. They should do thelr best to
put the Chinese in the 1imelight sO they would not cet the
impression that economic pressure was put upon them. They
should emphasize proper management SO as nat to betray the
expectation of the nation.
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Page * A national policy company for the development
29822 and control of North China economy should be organized
to realize the industrial mobilization of Japan. This
company should be responsible for the development and
management of important industries.

- As to managing the company they should be careful
to exercise control according to circumstances and to
comply with the industrial plans of both Japan and Manchuria.
Except for major transportation, communication, electric
power, generating, and transmission, mining, and salt

. enterprises, other industries, other industries shoult not
be put under special control except for special reasons.

In the economic development of North China, they
should utilize Chinese capital and cooperate with Chihese
29823 enterprises. * Cooperative investment of funds by third

countries should be permitted, and their existing economic
rights should be respected as much as possible., Close
connection should be kept in trade relations between Japan,
Manchukuo, and North China, and suitable adjustment should
be made with regard to trade between North China angd any
third country,.

The government on the spot should gradually
establish necessary facilities in regard to agricultural
improvement,, etc. Existine enterprises in North China,
in connection with major industries, should be disposed
of or adjusted according to this policy, They should
immedlately operate enterprises able to start at once, on
condition that disposal or adjustment would be made sccord-
Ing to this principle.

The Provisional Governmen- of China, or the
Public Peace Maintenance Assoclations, or the district
governments, should for the present be the party they
29824 should deal with in economic negotiations. * Regarding

. policy for the managem:=nt of the Shanghai area, they
should consider the establishment of a new government in
areas occupled by their troops which would have connections
with the New North China regime, but for the time being,
the Public Peace Maintenance Associations should be estab-
lished and charged with the maintenance of peace.

Policies for the concession and surrounding areas
should be established separately. As to areas around the
concession, they should cooperate toward their develcpment,
and consider the establishment of organizatiors for the
securlity of peace in the concession.
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Page The areas around the concession under the juris- 1
diction of Greater Shanghai City, excluding the concession R
29825 and roads on 1ts boundary, + should be called the Special
city and have a Chinese mayor, but a Japanese councillor
should be appointed to assist the mayor. Authority for the
councillor should be established separately.

A special police department should be established
to conduct police administration. The chief and all lower
rankine police chiefs should be Chinese. but a reasonable
numher of Japanese councilloTs should be appointed to
cooperate witk him. The employment of forelgn councillors
should be considered, if necessary. The number of Chinese
police and thelr armaments should be established separately,
and police authority for Japanese residents in the Special
Citv should come under the jurisdiction of the consulate

police. 4

Pinancial administration should be maintained by
revenues, including the kinds of taxes levied In the old
29826 City of Shanghal, * and would be obtained by taking over
organizations under the control of the former Kuomintang

sovernment,

In expectation of the establishment of a new
regime in Central China, the Special City should be an
open port, and foreign richts should be recognized. To
establish Japan's economic development in Central China
with Shanghai as a base, the areas around the concession .
should be called the Specilal City and a2 national policy

50827 * company should be eatablished to ma’rtain control of the
various public utilities. The scale -nd order of the
undertakinegs of this company should ne determined separ- .
ately. The capital of the company should be provided from
funds on the spot, so far &as allowable for tha®t purpose.

Capital to Jipancse enlerprensurs in the Special s
city and concession and the acquirement of real estate in
the concession by Japanese, should be taken into consid-
eration separately. Official establishments in the Special
City formerly owned by Chinese authorities should be taken
over and utilized. Those required by the Speclal City
anthorities for asdministration should be used by them.

29828 * The Special City should be utilized as the lLase
for communications. transportation, and alrways between the
Shanghail vicinity and Japan, North China, and lanchuria.
guitable steamship companies should make use of Chiulkilang
and Chaoshaneg Chu pilers. Facilities for communicat’ion
rights in the future would be controlled.
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Page Lunghwa alrfield should be controlled. The right
of administration for Hongjao and Yuantung ailr bases should

be acquired.

A laree market should be established in the
. Special City. For the present, utilizing the Shanghail
29829 fish market should be considered, * and small crafts
vermitted to enter and leave the port freely.

As for business which could be immediately started,

. this should be started promptly on condition that they be

oroperly disposed of at the time of the establishment of
the national policy company. The Publlic Peace Maintenance
Committee or the district governments should, for the
present, be dealt with in negotiations for these economic

riehts.

Regarding the management of North China, as for
ma jor transportation and communication enterprises, man-
agement by a single company in all of Manchuria and China
should not be permitted. The North China regime's flnance
should be strengthened to promote public and other enter-
prises in North China to malntain and improve international
revenues ani disbursements between North China and any
third country. 2nd appropriate policy should be taken.

. 29830 * The gold production industry in 'North China

should be immediately taken from the viewpoint of inter-
national revenues and Japanese disbursements. Theésecir-
cumstances should be consldered when making future

ad justments.

Regarding the management of areas around Shanghal,
the national policy company should be permitted to execute
business in connection with land under the control of
Japanese army and civilian authorities in the Sopecial City.

29831 * The witness did not recollect if on 8 January
1938, HIROTA informed Dirksen that if the Chinese wished io
ask questions to understand the four points more freely,
Japan would answer them, and if he asked Dirksen to obtain
them from Trautmann in Chlna. He did recollect that HIROTA

29832 * gave quite detailed explanations in regard to the four

29833 terms., * The witness did not remember whether HIROTA, on
6 January, informed Dirksen that he would welcome questions
from China, or whether HIROTA told Dirksen he expected
either an answer or a query from China in the near future.

- -
i g SRR




NARRATIVE SUMMARY OF THE RECORD Page 4679
October 2, 1947

DEFENSE - HIROTA

HORINOUCHI - Cross

29835

29836

29837

He didn't remember whether HIROTA saw Dirksen
and told him that Japan expected an answer with the utmost
speed on 10 January. He did recall that he told Dirksen
he hoped China would be urged to reply as quickly as

possible.

* He did not remember HIROTA's saying on 10
January that the military insisted upon an immediate and
clear answer. (Exhibit 486-F). He did not recall if the
General Staff were insisting that the terms should be
clarified and that the Cabinet insisted that they should

not be.

He had omitted the Imperial Conference of 1l
January. 1938, from his affidavit, because he had not
remembered it, although he had not forgotten all about
such a conference. * He did not recall who called for
the conference, or whether HIROTA sald he saw no need for
it. He did not hear at that time that the army sald that
one reason they wanted the conference was that Generals
TERAUCHI and MATSUI in China were urging that the govern-
ment should have nothing more to do with Chilang Kai-shek.
He did not hear that the General Staff saiad they wanted to
suppress those opinions and make an immediate peace.

* According to his recollection, the outline of
the measures for the China Incident were recognized at
that Imperial Conference and a decision was arrived at by
which Japan would no longer Trecognize the Chinese government.
(Reference was made to exhihit 270 and 2235).

. The witness was handed a document and was asked
1 it was not the official record of the Imperial Confer-
ence. He said he supposed 1t was.

*+ Exhibit 3264, records concerning the Imperial
Conferences, being the document identified by the witness,
stated that on 11 January, 1938, an Imperial Conference
was held to decide policy toward China. The previous
autumn, when the China problem became serious, there were
arguments insisting on establishing a firm na%ional policy
through an Imperial Conference. Under the varying situa-
tions, it was difficult to decide policy and the government
did not realize it until then. There had been on one hand
the German movement for mediation, and on the other the
Chiang Kai-shek regime would not collapse easily and it
seemed not to reject such mediation.
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29839

29840

* In case peace came suddenly or Chiang's regime
was annihilated, the government recognized the necessity
of decidine counter measures for that. The government
petitioned for an Imperial conference and held Lialison
and Cabinet conferences extending to the 9th and 10th.

The Chief of the Naval General Staff made an offer that

it was desirable that the Emperor also ask a few questions.
However., as Prince SAIONJI was prudent about the Emperor's
speaking, the Lord Keeper told HARADA of this on the 10th
and asked bim to hear SAIONJI's opinion, adding that he,
the Lord Keeper, believed the Emperor's speech might be
admissible unless it included a final decision. HARADA

* requested SAIONJI's opinion, and he stated that he agreed
with the Lord Keeper, meaning he didn't want to fix
responsibility upon the Emperor and that he regarded other

questions admissible.

KONOYE received an audience with the Emperor on
the 10th on the matter of an Imperial conference on the
11th, He met with the Lord Keeper, and told him that 1in
proceeding with the Imperial Conference there would be no
need of the Emperor's speech, since he was golng to bring
a plan which was mostly already decided.

* The Lord Keeper also consldered the proceedings
of the Conference and receilved an sudience on the 10th,
after the withdrawal of Premier KONOYE. He told the
Emperor he thought it appropriate for KONOYE to manage
conference procedure, and it was decided that the Emperor
would grant permission teo this effect. On the 11lth the
conference convened, and the Presiden! of the Privy Council,
HIRANUMA, participated by special c.der. DBecause of the
Privy Council's connection with di-lomacy, KONOYE privately
requested and received sanction to have HIRANUNA take part.

KONOYE stated that with the Emperor's permission,
he would manage the council, and had Forelgn Minister
HIROTA explain the original draft. The Chlef of the General
Staff stated that he approved the draft from the standpolnt
of a permanent peace. The Chief of the Naval General Staff
also approved. HIRANUMA approved, and stated that if some
agreement were reached with the Chiang regime, consideration
must be given to offering full protection to those hitherto
in the pro-Japanese administration in North China and
elsewhere. He requested the Home Minister to give specilal
thougeht to domestic public order. The Emperor made not a

single remark.
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Page The various circumstances were explained on the:

29542 day before to HIRANUMA * by the Chief Secretary and Vice
Minister of Foreign Affairs. HIRANUMA seemed dissatisfied
that such measures were taken for the first time that day.
On the day of the council, HIRANUMA said he had a few

questions, which were replied to prior to the council.

The rovernment issued a statement on the 16th
to draw up a liaison conference and a cabinet meeting were
held on the 14th and 15th. The matter had not been settled
because of the General Staff's inslistence upon efforts for
. reconciliation. The government plan was finally accepted,
but individuals of the General Staff added that they still
believed the reconciliation doctrine was satisfactory.

29843 + Reference was made to the document where 1t
showed that HIRANUMA and HIROTA were present at the council
in the Imperial presence on 1l January 1938, The exhibit
stated that the inflexible policy of the Emplre was to form
an axlis for peace in cooperation with Manchukuo and China.
To settle the China Incident in accordance with this policy,

29844 * Japan and China would sweep away all past frictions,
recognize their mutual relationship recognize each other's
sovereignty and territorial integri%y. Japan, Manchukuo
and China should abolish all pollciles 1iable to ruin their
mutual friendship. They should be united to realize thelr
cultural coalition and anti-communism policy. They should
cooperate with regard to industries, economics, etc,

Japan, by applyins closely unified political and

military tactics, should carry out the following measures.
29845 ¥ If the Chilnese Central Government - -vuld reconsider and

ask for reconciliation, they would regotiate in accordance
with the conditions of the negotiations for peace between
Japan and China, as indicated on the attached sheet (A).
If the Empire recognized that Chilna had carried out the
neace conditions, she should not only rescind the privisions
of guarantee on the attached sheet (B), but also cooperate
sincerely with China for her reconsideration.

If. the present Chinese Government does not ask
for reconciliation, Japan would not wholly depend upon
settling the Incident by takilng them as her opponent, but
would assist the formation of the New Chinese Government
with which to negotiate and cooperate. AS for the present
Chinese Government, Japan should be determined to annihilate
it or take measures to absorb it under the new government.
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Pagce :
29%46 + To carry out this policy, they should promote
rapid cultivation and arrangements of total national
strength, especially defense power, and improve relations

with third powers.

29847 + They should respect the rights and interests of
third powers and try to obtain the predominant position in
economic jevelopments only through free competition, They

should gulde public opinion to make the people realize the
fundamental policy for settling the Incident. The same

should aoply to foreign peoples.

rAttached sheetl (o) stated thatl regarding detalls
of the conditions for peace, China should grant formal
recoenition to Manchukuo, renounce anti-Japanese and anti-
¥anchukuo policy, and establish demilitarized ZONES in

North China and Inner Mongolia.

North China should establish an organization

under Chinese sovereignty to realize the co-prosperity of
Japan and ¥anchukuo and China, and give the organization
suthorities and make special efforts to bring about

29848 economic cooperation. * An anti-communistic self-government
in North Vongolia should be established, and its inter-
national position should be similar to that of the present
Outer Mongolila Government. China should establish an antl-

communistic policy and cooperate 1n carrying out this

29849 * Non-armed Zzones should be established in the
occupied areas in Central China, and Japan and China should
cooperate to maintain public order and develop economic

getivities in the Greater Shanghal district. All three
countries should conclude an agreement regarding the
exploitation of natural 1resources, customs, trade, etc.
china should make due reparations to Japan. 1TrooOps should
be stationed in certsin districts of North China, Inner
VYongolia and Central China for the period deemed necessarye.
Talk on the armistice pact should commence after an agree-
ment on these provisions had been reached between Japan and

China.

when China had carried out these provisions and
truly cooperated, Japan would not only rescind the provisions
of guarantee, rut also offer UO cooperate for China's

recovery and national development.

- - —
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Attached sheet (B), the provisions of guarantee
mentioned in attached sheet (A), were non-armed zones 1in
North China and Inner Mongolia; 2, special rights and
interests established for security at the negotiations;

3, non-armed zones in occupied areas in Central China.
4. rights and interests concerning control and expansion
of communications and accompanylng military establishments.

The pacts and agreements to be abollished when
peace was made, were the UMEZU-Ho-Ying-Chin Pact, the
Tangku Truce Pact, the DOIHARA-Chin To-chum Pact, and

tre Shangha! Truce Pact.

At the same time, with the abolition of the
provisions of guarantee, the renunciation of special
rights and interests in China, which Japan had held up to

then should be considered.
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29851

29852

29853

29855

29856

29857

% The witness was asked if when the Army General Staff was ne-
gotiating with the foreign ministry about this Imperial Conference,
if a representative probably*vic&-chief TAiDAs said to HIROTA that the
truce conditions were S0 aggressive that they might impair future
diplomatic relations between Yapan zand China, The witness replied he
did not recall hearing such & thing. He did not hear them say it was
therefore necessary o hold a conference in the presence of the Emperor.

# The witness stated he was nistaken when he sald the decision
not to deal further with te Chinese Nationaul Govt was arrived at at this
Imperial Conference. He should have said that such measures were consid-

ered in such &n event.

The witness was asked 1if the General Staff while negotiating vith
the Foreign Ministry prior to the Imperial Conference said that because
the truce terms were 80 aggressive it was necessary to astablish a basic
policy for ~econstruction of Sino-Japanese relations by holding the Im-
perial Conference. He stated he did not recall &nd added that when an
Army opinion was conveyed to the Foreign Office it was the custom for
an army representative to convey 1t. He did not recall that it was
conveyed at a mebting between the dar, Navy and Forelign ministries attend-
ed by the General Staff on January 10, 1938.

% He heard nothing to the effect that the General Staff said it
was necessary to prepare & counter policy against the asggressive domestic
tendencies. The witness was handed a document and he identified his
signature at the top of it. ¥ Exhibit 3265. The document so identified
"Concerning the Basic Policy for Settling the Chinese Incident (Subject
Before & Council in the Fresence of the Zmperor) (January 10, 1938, Bast
Asia) stated that * the army proposed that its drafted plan of the
policy for solution of the China Incident, Appendix No.l, (Dac.l,1937)
should be decided at a council in the Imperial Presence after discussion
among the three Ministries. But the Foreign and Navy Ministries left
the army proposal &s it was because it was unnecessary to make a new
policy as they already had prepared & main policy. Moreover the main
policy (a) had been established in case of both peace and war and all
investigations concerning a peaceful solution with Chaing Kai-shek had
been finished when the answer was given to German ambassador Derksen
in Tokyo.

Certain opinions became more influential among the General
Staff after the answer was given 1o Derksen. These were that conditions
of truce were SO aggressive that they might jmpair future diplomatic

relations ¥ in China and it wes not necessary therefore to establish
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the basic policy by holding a meeting in the presence of the Emperor and

' to prepare a counter policy against the too aggressive domestic tsndency.

‘ The General Staff attended the conference of the three ministries

} and explained this. The Foreign and Navy Ministers thought the Army's |
broad view was a good thing and agreed it might be well to discuss the '-
subject in the presence of the Emperor., Consequently the subject of
discussion at the meeting in the presence of the Emperor \Appendix 11)

. was drafted,

29858 % The witness stated that the Chief of the East «sia Burea at
that time was ISHII,Itaro but he did not recall 1if MATSUDAIRA was Chief |
of the first section. The witness stated that it was his recollection |
that immediately after the Imperial Conference on Jan 13th a reply from '
China came through the German ambassador on Jan l4th.

29859 # The witness was asked if when the reply came HIROTA sald that
China through the srmy General Staif Hgrs as well as through the German |
Military sttache was aware of the concrete proposals but despite this
still insisted that the proposals were not understandable. There was !
no hope in that sort of a reply. It had been determined at the Imperial |
Council that there was nothing to do but launch the alternate plan to 1
transfer present hostilities into & long term warfare, It was vital
to strengthen their determinatlion to this effect. After being quoted .
3 this statement the witness said he had no recollection that HIROTA :
ever said it to him.

29860 # when asked if that represented the witness' attitude the
witness stated he did hear that was the stmosphere in the cabinet but
did not hear that HIROTA was especially the one who agreed with this.
He was not present on Jan 1lith when HIROTA met DERksen and the Chinese
reply was presented.

i i s el -

- -

29862 % He had heard that HIROTA told Yerksen the Lhinese reply was
unsatisfactory and since he had already given a detailed explanation :
: there was no need to add to that, He did not hear that the German ;
. ambassador told HIROTA that that was not true.

| Wihen he referred to a Cabinet Council, the witness meant a
meeting of the Cabinet itself and not a meeting of the cabinet coun- :
29863 cilors. * He did not hear on that occasion that the General Staff |
repeated their demand that further particulars of the terms should
be sent to China,
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page When asked if the General Staff finally gave way because of a
threat that if they did not either they or the cabinet would have to
resign, the witness stated he never heard the General Staff was threat-
ened. He did hear that it expressed the opinion that they wished the

negotiations to continue. They did not ask that they be cont inued
on the basis of ameliorating the conditions but that they be continued
on the basis of the conditions which should remain. |

The witness did not remember that the cabinet meeting was
interrupted while the General Staff retired to consider why they should .
do about this threat. He did not know if the General Staff capitulated
and agreed that the declaration refusing to have further dealings with
Chiang-~Kai-shek should be issued.

298614 ® He did know that the cabinet did arrive at such a decision.
But he did not understand that the decision went entirely beyond what
had been determined at the Imperial Conference, (The attention of the
court was called to Exhibits 268, 486-B, G and I, 972-A and G, and 2260.

The witness did not remember if on Yan 21 KONOYE sent HIROTA

a document containing the general principles of policy after the declar-

ation had been issued. The witness was shown a document and asked 1if

it was not a copy from the Foreign Office of the document from KoNOYE

to HIROTs, He stated that he did not recall and it was difficult to
20865 confirm whether it was & cabinet decieion *, He admitted it was impor-

tant to him as Vice-Minister to know the new policy but he could not

confirm whether this document was a copy of the cabinet decision.

nsked if he could suggest any reason why the Foreign Office
should file a copy of a message from the Premler to the Foreign Min-
ister if it was not authentic, he stated that generally official
documents were filed by the Document Section after being looked over
by the Minister, the Vice-Minister or Bureau Chief and such a document
always bore his signature or seal., This document did not bear a
29866 filing number, or certificate from the chief of the archivew Section.

The witness said that he was not claiming that extra coples

were never made and filed separately but to ascertain later whether
29867 such copies were made there mubt be definite proof, ™ From the

document was read a part which stated t hat military aims in the China
Incident shall be perfectly attained and the status of general
mobilization completed. #ll measures should be taken in response to
the prolonged resistance of China, He was asked if that was not a
part of the policy decided upon at that time and he stated he did not
recall.
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He did not recall,if in February 1938 HIROTA issued instructions to
Foreign Ministry representatives in China as to methods of propaganda
to disintegrate the Chinese army.

29868 * The witness was hunded a document and asked if it was not
issued by the Chief of the Information Section of the Foreign Office
from HIROTA to such representatives, He stated he did not recall the
contents but it might be a telegram sent out by the chief, asked if
he observed it was from HIROTA he stuted it had always been a custom
that all outgoing tele%rams were sent in the Foreign Minister's name
even when sent by the Information Bureau Chief. It was possible to
suppose it might have been sent by the chief. It did not bear either
the signature of the chief nor of the chief of the competent section.

29869 ¥ It was difficult to confirm the authenticity,

29870 * The witnegs stated he knew Baron HARADA, ssked if he met
him on February 14th and asked HARADA if he had heard about the liaison
conference of Feb 14 1938, he stated that he did not recall., Asked if
he told HARADA that at the conference there had been a dispute between
the army and navy as to whether the army would advance as far as
dnking so the navy might use it as a bombing base, he replied that he
did not quite recall.

29871 % He did not recall telling HARADA that the reason of the
difficulty was that the army was preparing against the Soviet, He
did not recall telling HARADa that the Emperor asked the war Minister
if it was possible to put into effect a simultaneous plan for long-
term hostilities, military preparations against Russia and the expan=-
sion of the navy.,

He did not recall telling HARADA that iWar Minister SUIGYAMA

reglied to the Lmperor that he would discuss the matter with the
cabinet and take proper action. The witness did not recall this

matter being subsequently discussed in the cabinet.

29872 The witness was handed a document and asked if he recognized
it as a foreign office record of the East nsia Bureau of "Matters
regarding the Imperial General Headquarters Council in the Imperial
Fresence duted Feb., 18, 1938. The witness confirmed that the document
was written on Foreign Office stationery but he could not confidently
say it was & document of the Foreign Office.

|
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The Vice-Minister did not have the duty of reading all incom-
ing documents. The witness did notice that the contents of the docu~-
ment were similar to the same effect as what was suggested the wit-
ness told HARADA, However, he had no recollection of having a conver-
sation with HARADA along those lines nor had he ever seen this docu-
ment .

#* The witness noticed that there was a pencil notation on the
top of the document reading "Original copy at negotistion" but he did
not know whose writing it was. When asked if the document was not of
such importance that he must have sesen it, he stated the document was
classified as "material for research", Since the Vice-Minister was
very much occupied with other matters it may have been he did not see
this document .

The witness noticed that the document stated that to this
statement from a naval viewpoint the navy insisted on the necessity
of extending naval power for preparing against Great Britain and
hmerica. ssked if such a document which disclosed the Navy's inten-
tions came into the Foreign Ministry if it would not be essential for
both him and HIROTA to see it, he stated that he did not say that the
document was not important but that he had no recollection of ever
having seen it, The document merely purported to be a copy and he had
no proof that it actually was an official document although it was on
Foreign Office paper. It was impossible for him to state that it was
an efficial document,

* There was a distinction between oificial documents and other
documents filed in the foreign office, He had no recollection whether
the conference referred to in the document took place,

* & reference was made to the witness®' affidavit where he
referred to the careful consideration which HIROTA took to safeguard
the interests of third powers in China and exerted all efforts. The
witness stated that he knew that Grew continually protested to
HIROTA about breaches of the open door policy and attacks on ~merican
lives and property. HIROTA took pains on one hand to explain the
real facts of the situation and on the other hand called attention
of the Army and Navy to the protests and did his best to protect the
interests of third powers. He sent repeated instructions to the
diplomatic representatives in China to take all possible steps to
safeguard the interests of third powers.

The witness also recalled that there were frequent protests
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from the British ambassador but he could not 8ay that there was the same
lack of results.,

(Attention of the Court was called to Exhibits 941, 944, 954=C,
955, 968, 969, 973)

The witness remembered the "Lady Bird" Incident ang recalled that
December 30, 1937 HIROT4 sent an official note to Britain that the firing
upen %he "Lady Bird" by the Japanese army was entirely due to a misundepr-
standing. He recalled that s similar explanation was made with regard

It was absolutely not true that he knew the explanation was
untrue. The witness was asked if on December 14th & fortnight before
the note was sent if he saw Baren HARADA % ang hae replied that he did
net remember whether he saw HARAD: on that day. He was asked if he
sald to HARADs that the naval air forces bombed and sank an smerican
merchant ship and that at about that time an English warship was shelled
at Nanking and men wounded, that this was a real disaster and that the

glish warship was & small ene. However it was 26 miles up stream from
Nanking. The regiment of which HASHIMOTO,Kingare was cemmander, fired
on it by the order of HASHIMOTO. The witness stutedt hat he did

use words of a similar nature but did net recall ever using the werd
deliberately,

Even if the firing was carried sut under HASHIMOTO's prders it
wWas possible that he might have mistaken the ship for a merchantman,
He never at any time suggested that HASHIMOTO deliberately gave an erder
te * fire on the British warship knowing it was British.

®Exhibit 3266, The arffidavit of HAYASHI, Kaoru, ceftifying te
the correctness of Exhibit 3267 and t hat it was in the archive section
of the Foreign Office was received inte evidence but not read.

* Exhibit 3267, a Foreign Offica document concerning the problem
of the ceonclusion of a Japanese-German Folitical Cenvent isn dated July
24 1936, stated that the Spviet was menacing Japan, She had concluded
treaties with France, Czecheslevakia and Outer Mongolia and backed
Communist activities in China, It was necessary for Japan to make
commen cause with another nation to check the Soviet, gt. was considered

preper and easy to chosse Germany tor both she and Japan had similap
standpoints as regards their international situations, expecially their

relations with the Soviet, Moreover their relations had recently taken
a faverable turn,
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29667 % The witness identified and verified Exhibit 3260 as his

affidavit, The affidavit stated that during the period 1911 Dec, 2
2968l *to Dec 21 1940 the witness was among other positions, vice-foreign
ninister under ARITA in the HIROTA Cabinet from April 10 1936 until

he was appointed ambassador Lo the U,S, October 15, 1938.

He was zlso under Foreign Minister HIROTA in the first KONOYE
Cabinet from June 4 1937 to May 26 1938. The forelgn of fice did not
have the slightest inkling of the Marco Polo Bridge Incident. The
telegram reporting its outbreak reached Tokyo July 8 1937. The following
day HIROTA was at Kugenuma when he received a telephone call from the |
foreign office reporting the outbreak, The foreign office policy was
to make its utmost effort to seek an amicable settlement of the matter
29685 as soon as possible. #n extraordinary meeting of the cabinet council
was held Sept 9 which decided the government attitude was to hold fast
to the policy to arrest the scope of the disturbance and seek an imme-
diate local settlement. The decision was largely due to HIROTA's ;

opinion.

ey g W e

In North China Maj Gen HaSHIMOTO,Gun, chief of staff of the North
China Affairs, and others negotiated with the Chinese ®9th Army reaching
an ugreement at 8 FM on the 1lth, The 29th iArmy accepted Japanese srmy
demands that a representative should eXpress regret,, punish the respon-
sible and make a vow that recurrence of such event should be prevented.
As the concentration of Chinese troops near Fengtal where Japanese forces '
were stationed was liable to cause incidents, the Chinese t roops stationed
at the citadel of the Marco Polo Bridge aud Lungwangmiao should be with-
drawn and replaced with police forces. anti-Japanese forces should be
strictly controlled.

29686 % These terms seened to be carried out by the Chinese before
July 22. Bui in the meantime there were frequent skirmishes between A
Japanese and Chinese troops as the latter after withdrawal reappeared in
the areas and the situation called for prudence and caution.

29687 # Ppior to this it was arranged that an extraordinary session
of the cabinet council be held July 11th and it was reported the army
would propose preliminary measures for mobilization. Foreign Minister
HIROTA arrived from Kugenuma on July 1lth and at the foreign office

assembled the witness, Bast asiatic Director ISHII and Buropean
Asiatic Director TOGO to deliberate on the reported army's proposal.
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It was decided the proposition should be opposed. Foreign
Minister HIROTA attended the cabinet meeting at which the War Min,
SUGIYAMA explained the plan for the preliminary arrangements for
mobilization. The plan was not to make immediate arrangements but
29688 Jjust a preparation for the preliminary arrangements for mobilization,
It amounted to a Cabinet decision to envisage eventual preparatory
measures for mobilization if the situation became more serious,

HIROTA said however that the matter might already have been
settled locally and that consideration of the army's proposal should
be postponed until further reports reached the government., The
discussion was once postponed, But the awaited report being late in
coming, the cabinet council assembled again the same day and was
compelled to approve the army's proposal, This provided that to
secure the apology and future guaranty by the Chinese, necessary
forces in the homeland and contingents from the Kwantunﬁ and Chosen
Armies should be mobilized and despatched to reinforce North China
forces.

411 possible efforts should be made for peaceful settlement
in conformity with the policy of local settlement. The despatch of
troops should be immediately stopped when this object was attained
and the apology and future guaranty fulfilled by the Chinese,

29689 #HIROTA consented with reservations that the despatch of troops
should be exclusively for protecting Japanese residences and securing
the safety of the North China forces which were comparatively small
in strength, and that the decision for mobilizing home troops was
nothing more than an attitude of prepuredress as contended by #ar
Minister SUGIYaMA, Holding fast to the policy of speedy local settle-
ment, the foreign office was determined to spare no effort for its
attainment. By HIROTA's order, the witaess asked the Chinese Charge
4! Affaires to call at the foreign office on July 11th and called the
attention of the Chinese Government to the critical North China
situation urging quick local settlement.

The witness told him that instructions to the same effect had
been given orally that morning to the Japanese Ambassador to China,
29690 #Mr, KAWnGOYE,  KAWAGOYE was on his way to North China, leaving
Shanghai the day the Incident broke out and Gouncilor HIDAKA executed
the instructions on his behalf.
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They received reports that the Nanking Uovernment however, was
despatching reinforcements to North China. The Chinese 29th srmy,
probably influenced by Nanking's military actions, came to show a dubious
attitude regarding execution of the terms of settlement agreed upon on
July 11lth., The Foreign Office ordered Councillor HIDiKa to call upon
Nanking not to interfere with the execution of the three terms and to
check the northward movement of the Chinese central armies, Neverthe-
less these armies were reported still advancing northward.

In view of China's attitude, the cabinet decided on duly 20
that preparations should be made for mobilizing three home divisions,

# The Foreign Office did not give up the hope of amlcable settle-
.ment and had Councillor HIDsK« pursue the Nanking negotiations in
earnest. Unfortunately there were clashes in North China since July
25th or 26th and orders for mobilizing the three home divisions were
jssued July 27th. From the 28th onwards hostilites in North China
spread and the situation in Shanghai vicinity became disquieting.
Thus all efforts of HIDaKa in MNanking proved fruitless,

In Tokyo, British Charge d' affaires Dodds called on the
witness July 15th and asked if Britain could be of service. The witneas
told him he thought there were prospects of local settlement. From
then until July 20th, Dodds came almost every day @nd kept him informed
of conversations between smbassador Huggessen and the Chinese Yoreign
Minister. The witness told Dodds they had not yet given up hope for a
local settlement * . On the 22nd #mbassador Grew made an offer to
HIROTA that his government would render services short of mediation.

HIROTA replied that in the light of the North China situation
on the 19th there was still some hope that the agreement of august 11
might be carried out. The foreign office had not given up the hope of
local settlement but was making desperate efforts.

In July a draft of terms was worked out by the authorities of
the foreign and war olfices and the navy ninister. Its main points
were the establishment of unfortified zones along the Pai-ho River,
the withdrawal of Japanese and Chinese troops from the areas specified,
and no annexation of territories and no indemnities, The Foreign,

dar and Navy Ministers and the premier approved the draft on sugust
5th,
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% In early sugust HIROTA made up his mind to send FUNATSU, an
authority on China to Shanghail to attempt to restore peace. FUNATSU
was to have talkes on the lines of the ~ugust peace terms with KAO
Tsung-wu chief of the ssiatic Bureau of the Chinese Foreign Uffice
who had direct contact with Chiang Kai-shek.

FUNATSU arrived in Shanghai on the 7th at which time Amb.
KAWAGOYE returned to his post there. The two decided that KaWAGOYE
negotiate with KAO Tsung-wu. at,  the interview on the 8th
KAWAGOYE revealed the terms of the August plan as his personal pro-
positions, KAO said he thought there were prospects of peaceful
settlement upon the terms and promised he would immediately return to
Nanking and report to Chiang Kai-shek. But it happened that a Japanese
Naval officer was killed by Chinese soldiers on sugust 9 (OYAMA incid-
end) ¥ and after the 13th Japanese and Chinese fdrces entered into
hostilities in Shanghai district, suspending communication with
Nanking. The KaWAGOYE-Kao interview thus ended without results.

Even then HIROTA did not give up hope of an amicable settlemend.

He asked #RITA, the foreign Minister in the HIROTA cabinet to
go to Shanghai where leading figures of the Nanking Govt. often
gathered and stay there for a chance of having informal talks with them.
KRITA accepted and it was arranged he would first visit Manchuria and
North China until HIROTA wired him of the proper time to start for
Shanghai. &RITA left on the 28th on his tour of inspection but as the
situation did not become favorable for his Shanghal visit, he was comp-
elled to return to Tokyo the end of September.

| * In September after the failure of the KAWAGOYE-Kap conversa-
tions, chiefs of bureaus of the foreign office, and war and navy min-
istries talked over how to deal with the peace problem. They agreed
that if the peace endeavor was to be continued, they must ask for the
good offices of a third power to find a settlement on the terms of the
asugust plan, This opinion was approved by the premier, the foreign,
war and navy ministers.

: at the same time the chiefs of the bureuus ussembled to dis-
cuss government policy in connection with the China affair but could
not attain agreement on two or three points. The witness conferred
with the war and navy vice-ministers and settled the points and this
was decided as government policy on October 1lst, with the approval of
the premier and the foreign, war and navy ministers.
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The point demanding special attention was that the.gist of
the policy for the settlement of the China affair * stipulated to
bring the affair to the quickest possible conclusion, to act in con-
formity with international law, to limit the scene pf battle chiefly
within the Hopei, Chahar provinces and the Shanghai district and
strive for the settlement of the North China questior . along the lines
that the said area should be placed under the administration of the
Chinese Central Government.

On Sept 21 the League asked Jupan to participate in the 23
Power Consultative Committee, Japan however had seceded from the
League and had maintained & firm attitude not to participate in League
political activity. On September 25th Japan replied that it could not

accept.

October 20th and November 7 1937 Belgium invited Japan to par-
ticipate in the Brussels Conference which was to be held in accordance
with srticle 7 of the Nine Powsr Pact. Japan was compelled to reply
to the Belgium request * that it could not accept.

% apticle 7 of the Nine Power Yact states that the contracting
powers agreed that whenever a situation arose which in the opinion of
any of them involved application of the treaty and rendered desirable
a discussion of applying it there should be full and frank communica-
tion between the contracting powers concerned. The foreign office
interpretation of this was that either in the light of the wording or
in consideration of the circumstances under which this article was dis-
cussed at the first meetins of the sub-committee for the Pacific and
Fap Bustern Froblems of the sdushington Confersnce December 2 1922, it
was evident that "communication" meant commianication in any form and
not necessarily in the form of & conference.

Proceedings of the subcommittee showed that generally communi-
cation should be made through ordinary diplomatic chHannels and Commun-
ication in the form of conference was not in the least expected. In
accordance with this interpretation the foreign office understood that
to reject participation in the Brussels conference was not against the
provisions of the Nine Powser Pact inasmuch as participation was expect-
ed to be detrimental to Japan's internal affairs.

% BEarly in September British Amb. Craigie arrived at his post.
He set about settling the case of smb, Huggessen's accident of hug .26
and solved this after talks with vice-navy minister YAMAMOTO and the

witness. .
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Oct. 27th HIROTA in an interview with the Ministers of Britain
and the U.S., Germany and Italy told them Japan could not accept the
invitation to the Brussels Conferences but desired either of the four
powers to use its good officas to bring about direct peace negotiations
on the terms of the hugust plan, &g Craigie informed HIROTA ,f
Brituin's willingness to use its good offices, HIROT4 dccepted and
there were several exchanges of views, It was realized later that
there was strong 4rmy opposition against Britain 48 a go-between and
the scheme had to be held in abeyance,

29700 * & similar offep was &lso made by Grew at about the same time
on condition thut both Japan and China asked for it, This of fer did
not materialize. The army maintained that the good offices o f Germany
should be asked but HIROTA hesitated and doubted if the services of
Germany alone which did not. huve 4 strong voice in China, were really
effectual. In the meantime Craigie suggested the Joint services of
Britain, the U.S, ang Germany, But the army's objection against par-
ticipation by Bnitain ang the U.S, was too obvious.

HIROTA then asked Craigie to take the initiative in requesting
Germany to let the other powers Participate, fc.-_inasmuch as Cermany
herself had agreed to act with Britain and the U,S. the army also might
consent. But Craigie reported later that the German ambassador told
him that as the approach to China stil} remained in the stuge of
29701 sounding * consideration would be given later to the British and U,S,
proposal when China responded to Japan's efforts, o i

In December, HIROTA received a personal letter from German
Amb, Dirksen that he had an important matter to discuss with him.
A called on Dirksen and was told that when the German Ambassador
- to China, Trautmann, met Chiang Kai-Shek on Dec. 2, Chiang Kai-shek
revealed he had no objection to starting negotiations on the basis of

Derksen asked HIROTA if there was no alteration in the peace
terms of the sugust Plan yet, HIROTA then had the director of the
East Asiatic Bureay confer with authorities in the War and Navy
Ministers and it Was mide clear that neither had objection to the
terms of the august plan. The question had to be submitted to the
29702 Liaison Conference of the government angd army and navy end it was
Placed on the agends for the Uscember 20th meet ing,
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The fall of Nanking on Dec 13 stiffened Japanese feeling I
toward China, For example Home Minister SUYETSUGU was known for his
drastic attitude toward Ching and against the peace negotiation it- v
self. At the Dec.20th meeting of the Liaison Conference, SUYETSUGU
laid his strong opinions before it and after a heated discussinn
the conference decided upon the four fundamental terms which were
less compromising than those of the s~ugust plan,

. These terms provided that China shall ba requested to give up
its pro-Comintern and anti-Japanese, anti-Manchoukuo policy and
cooperate with Japan and Munchukuo in their anti-comintern policy.
Unfortified zones shall be set up and Speci&l administrative machin-

29703 eries established in needed areas. #Clpose economic relations should ba
created among the three nations. China wWas requested to make necessary
reparations.

Japan expected a reply before Jan 5 or 6 of the following year.
These terms were presented tgo Dirksen and submitted to China through
| Trautmann on Uec, 26th but no reply came by the appointed dute. The
| foreign office urged the reply several times through CGermany and as
late as Jan 13th the Chinese Foreign Minister replied to Trautmann that
48 the peuce terms were too wide in scope, China wished to know further
detuils in order to make a final decision.

Y —

' | Dirkson conveyed the Chinese reply to HIROTH January 14th.
h8 to the contents of the four fundamentul terms a detailed explanation
| had already been given through the German government. It was incompre-
29704 hensible that China * should request further detuils. In 5he light
of the progress of past negotiations between the two governments since
the outbreak of the Incident Japan could not but regard it as an
: artifice to delay settlement and the foreign office was.pgreatly
* discouraged by this reply.

The reply was discussed at the cabinet council January 15th.
The council also regarded it as a delaying artifice and decided to
close the negotiations, The declaration not to deal with the National-
ist Government hereafter was mide on Yan 16th. Regarding the term not
to deal with the Nationalist government hereafter, it was first decided

to use the expression "to discontinue the negotiation" but the Foreign
Office opposed such an expression,

29705 * 1t was decided that the more or less vague expression be

adopted. This proved that the foreign office intended to leave scope
enough to resume negotiations.
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In March Italian authorities at Shanghai frequently transmitted
to the Japanese Bmbassy the Nationalist Govt's intention concerning the
peace terms, The witness remembered that HIROTA gave tacit consent to
the Shanghai Embassy to keep in touch with Italian diplomatic author-
ities. HIROTA always considered the safeguarding of third power inter-
ests in “hina even after the outbreak of the Incident. He mentioned

this several times in announcements of the government and exerted all
efforts in its favor.

In April or May 1938 he ordered the witness in response to
& British offer to discuss with Craigie questions reguarding the main-
tenance of the Chinese customs system and the modification of tariff.
29706 *us a result of several meetings an agreement was concluded and made
public. The agreement restruined the modification of the tapiff
rates within a certain limit so it might not be against the interests

of third powers. It also aimed at forestalling seizure of Chinese
customs by the Japanese :rmy,

Craigie hud kept close contact with the United Stutes and
French #mbassadors before the agreement was arrived at and he told the
witness that both countries had no objections to the agreement .
HIROTA exerted efforts to keep the effects of military measures upon

the interests of third powers within the least limit through negotiat-
ions with those third powers.

The originals and copies of the telegrams referred to in the
affidavit had been lost by fire and were nol in the files of the
foreign office.

Exhibit 3261, the deposition of HaYASHI, Kaoru of the foreign
office testified that the telegrams referred to in the witness' affi-
davit were lost by fire and could not be found in the files of the
foreign office wasreceived in evidence but not read.

29708 * The witness was handed Exhibit 3260. He stated that he
remembered HIROTA's having a conversation with the British smbassador
before Uct 27 1937. HIROTA undficiully requested Craigie to offer
his good offices to enable Japan and “hina to conduct direct negotiations
between themselves,

29709 * Conversations between the two were held from the end of Sept. .
to the beginning of October. Since the Incident HIROTA had met several
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times with Chinese ambassador, Hau-Shish—ying‘and had talked with him
regarding settling the matter.

29711 w The'witneés stated he did not attend on every occasion.

29712, % HIROTA mlways told the witness about these matters and

Craigie later told him that on such and such a day he had such and
such & conversation with HIROTa. These reports were received from

HIROT4 in his capacity as vice-foreign minister. It was the witness'
-duty to keep in close touch with HIROTA on &ll such matters,
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Page The witness stated that at the conversations

5074)) * hetween Craigie and HIROTA prior to 27 October, 1937,
Craipgie proposed he would do anything within his power ;
to assist in recovering peace. HIROTA replied he desired 3

the assistance of Britain, which he felt was held 1n 3
confidence and trust by China.

At first HIROTA expressed the desire that
inasmuch as he hesitated to present terms as a representa-
tive of Japan, he would like to have the terms proposed

29741 as though coming from very reliable quarters. * Craigile
said that that would not do, and they would like to convey
the proposal as coming from the Japanese Foreign Minister.

HIROTA then said his name might be guoted, but
only as his individual views. Craigie consented. This
procedure was customarily used in diplomatic negotiations.

At first there were informal talks, developing into more
formal conversations.

One of the personal views HIROTA expressed was toO
have a demilitarized zone in North China, from which Chinese
and Javanese troops would withdraw. He alsoO desired to
ad just relations on a practical basis between Manchukuo and

29742 North China. * He deslred to have China control antl-
Japanese movements and to have recognized the principle of
equal economiec opportunity in North China. These views

4 were conveyed by Craigie to the Chinese government, which

| conveyed their desires twoor three times to HIROTA by

Craigie.

CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR COMYNS-CARR.

29745 * The witness stated that he was not present at
the Cabinet Meeting on 9 July, 1937, but ha got information
about it from HIROTA. He had referred in 1t to theilr
seeking a prompt local settlement.

29746 + In repard to the terms agreed between General

‘ HASHIMOTO, Gun, and the Chinese 29th Army on 1l July, they
were decided on the spot, and not discussed by the Cabinet
on 9 July. He was not saying that the Cabinet on 9 July
jeft it to the local commander to enforce any terms he
thought fit. Two major principles were decidnd by the
Cabinet on 9 July. The first was that every effort be
made to seek a peaceful settlement, and the second was
that settlement be made locally.

- . i iy
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Pagé *+ The Cabinet policy decided on at the meeting

59747 was to see that the incident was settled promptly on the
spot, and the military authorities there were to negotiate
with this policy in mind. Inasmuch as the Cabinet was
not informed of full details of the situation as of 9 July,
their decision was only with reference to general policy.

1 Tt was not left to the 10cal commander to decide terms.

Negcotiations were tO be conducted on the spot, but final
| decisions were to be made by the government.

i e —

| . 29748 * With regard to agreements between governments,
' any terms the local commander might secure from the local
Chinese commander would not be effective unless approved
by both governments. The terms were effective insofar as
they concerned the armies of both sides on the spot.

When asked if it was also left to the local
commander's discretion what means he should adopt to compel
the Chinese army to accept his terms, the wiltness stated
that general policy was to effect and promote local settle-
ment in accordance with the policy of non-expansion and
non-aggravation. The 1ocal commander was permitted to

l conduct negotiations on terms of settlement iIn so far as
1 they accorded with this general policye

29749 + When again asked 1if 1t were left to the local
| commander's discretion what means he should adopt to
' compel the Chinese to accept his terms, the witness

— e—

l

| answered that he was instructed or ordered to carry on
! negotiations. It was not SO that it was obvious to the
: #itness and HIROTA that nobody would have accepted the
| terms except under threat of force.

' 29750 + Tt was true that the Foreign Offlce had

| representatives in various parts of China. He didn't
recall any special instruction to them to find out the real

29752 facts as to the original outbreak of the Incident. * He
didn't recall any special instruction to that effect, but

the representatives, as a matter of course, reported
anything they heard or learned about to the Forelgn Office.

Asked if they discovered that the Chinese denied
X the Japanese Army's version of the matter, the witness
: stated they confirmed some. The Chinese confirmed some
pa~ts of the Japanese version and denied others.

The Foreign Office considered and studied inform-
ation from all possible sources, as well as the views of
the Chinese authoritiles. HIROTA did not accept all the

Japanese Army's story.
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* The witness did not think the trouble had

arisen because the Japanese chose to hold maneuvers up
against the position where Chinese forces WETE entitled
to be stationed. Asked wby the Chinese had to withdraw
from a place where they were entitled to be in order not
to cause untoward incidents, the witness stated it was
his understanding that both sides negotiated to satisfy
their mutual interests to avoid further trouble. It was
discussed between the two to satisfy theilr interests to
arrange that troops On botk sides would be kept apart.

Regarding the results of the Cabinet meeting of
11 July which he had mentioned in his affidavit, the
witness heard this from HIROTA. * It was not true that
the actual result of the meeting was thatl the Cabinet
made an important determination and decided to take
necessary steps regarding the dispatching of troops to
North China. As he had said in his affidavit, in the
case of any eventuality preparatlons needed to be consid-
ered. He didn't recall HIROTA taking a hasty measure for

strengthening diplomatic staffs in North China.

The witness did not xnow that what the prose-
cutor had been reading to him was from the of fice Report
for 1937 published by the Secretariat of the Foreign
¥inistry on 1 December, 1937. (Exhibit 260).

*+ The witness had not heard that the War Minister
insisted on sending immediate reinforcements to the five
thousand men in Tientsin, or that the whole Cabinet,

including HIROTA, consented to his proposal. He did not
wnow 1f the War Minister said to the Emperor that he would
send a large force to smash the opposition and settle the

jssue in a short time.

He did not recall that immediately after the

Cabinet meeting of the 12th, a message came in stating
that the Chinese had agreed to the terms, nor did he
recall that the message said that the Chinese answer was
very sincere. He did not recall the Army General Staff
expressing the view that this was & Chinese ruse to make

the Japanese stop military preparations.

* Asked 1f the reinforcements from the Kwantung
and Chosen armies were sent in spite of Chinese acceptance,
the witness stated that they accepted but did not carry it
into execution. Reference Was made to the witness' affli-
davit where he saild "Phese terms seemed TO be carried by
the Chinese into execution somehow OT other before July

22
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Asked if he now said that was untrue, the witness
replied that he didn't know how his words had been trans-
lated, but in Japanese he said it seemed as though the
terms would be carried out. He did not say they were
carried out.

* When shown the English copy of his affidavit,
the witness stated the English might convey such a meaning,
but what he really wished to say was set forth with clarity
In the Javanese text., He wanted to point out that even in
the English text, the words are "seemed to be" and not
"to have been",

He had never thoughrt of the agreement by the
Chinese as merely a ruse to stop Japanese military prepara-
tions. * Asked if contingents from the Kwantung and Chosen
armies were In fact sent to North China immediately after
11 July, the witness stated that at that time the Forelgn
Office was not familiar with the detaills of military
movements. Asked if it were not essential for them to
find out what they were doing if they were trying to check
military expansion, the witness stated that every effort
was made to inform themselves, but as to the time and type
of military actions these matters belonged to the category
of strict military secrets, known only to those vitally
or directly concerned.

* Asked if HIROTA took any steps to find out
whether reinforcements had been canceled when news came
of the Chinese acceptance of the army's terms, the witness
stated that as he had said, the Chinese military authorities
accepted. but at that time they received no reports that
they had carried out the terms. He did not know whether
HIROTA took any steps to find out what measures had or were
being taken. * He did not reecall whether HIROTA took any
steps to find out whether reinforcements had, in fact, been
sent. The witness heard later that they had been sent.

* Thevy got rerorts that the Nanking government
was dispatching ‘reinforcements to North China from the
army as well as Foreign Office authorities. The troops
were belneg moved by the Chinese government in Chinese
territory, it was true. When asked what right they had
to object, the witness said not objecét but negotiate. It
was not true that the position they took was that the army
could send what reinforcements it liked into Chinese
territory, but the Chinese army must not move reinforce-
ments within its own territory.
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Page Asked if that was not what it amounted to, the
witness stated that such negotiations were carried cut
mutually between the two to avoid oppomtunities for

clashes. By thatl he didn't mean that there would be no
clashes if the Japanese troops went there and Chinese

troops did not.

29762 + Reference was made to the witness' affidavit
where it stated that the Forelgn Office ordered Councillor
HIDAKA on 16 July to ask the Nanking Government not TO

" interfere with the execution of the three terms and check

the northward movements of 1ts armies. When asked what
rieht they had to do that, the witness stated it was
natural that by such negotiations 2 searefnl setitlement
could be effected.

The witness was reminded that he had sald 1t was
not left to local commander's discretion to settle what
terms they pleased, but that the two governments would have
to confirm them. He was then asked why HIROTA called upon
Nanking not TO interfere with them. He stated there were
prospects that the matter could be settled locally.

Recause they entertained these prospects, they desired
that Nanking approve the idea of a local settlement and
assist in the execution of the terms.

Regarding the draft of terms referred to in his
affidavit which he sald was approved on August 5 or 6 by
HIROTA.  SUGIYAMA, the Navy Minister and the Premier, he
did not know where the draft was now. He had taken steps
to find it, but because many of the Foreign Office files
had been burned he could not locate itT.

29763 *+ Asked why he had not included it in his affi-
davit as having been burned, the witness stated he thought
there was no objection to testifying from memory.

29764 HIROTA did his best to have the Shanghal Incident
settled locally. Asked if he expressed approval of
increasing Japanese marines in Shanghal and of sending

2dditional warships there for the purpose of local settle-
ment, the witness stated that HIROTA had no alternative
but to give his approval to this action. In spite of the
existence of a demilitarized zone in Shanghai, the Chinese
Peace Preservation COTrps infiltrated, causing 2 need tO
protect the lives and property of Japanese residents and
the safety of the very small naval 1anding party there.

29765 * The witness thought HIROTA did give his consent when the
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Asked if HIROTA said that on 13 August, 1937, the
causes of the Incident were the assassination of Lieutenant
OYAMA, the rousing of excitement in Shanghal by the
inereased number of Japanese warships and of marines to
three thousand, the witness said he had no recollection of
ever having heard that., Various reports on the OYAMA case

were assembled and studied.

. that the reports from the navy on the spot were obvious
nonsense. Every effort was .made to compare the reports
sent also by Forelgn Office authorities to find out the

59766 true facts. * He dld not consider the navy reports
nonsense.,

To the witness was quoted a purported statement
of HIROTA that if they should announce the issuelng of a
mobilization order, the situation would be troublesome,
so that at the Cabinet meeting of 12 August 1t was decided
mobilization orders would be issued but not announced. The
witness stated he had no recollection of this statement.

Regarding the negotiations of 24 September, 1937,
he thouzht there was somethilng to the effect that the
Cabinet decided to mobilize four divislons and have another
four in readiness.

29767 *+ Regarding the discussions between HIROTA and

CRAIGIE, the approach was made by Craigie, who sald he
would be happy to assist in the nerotiations.

To t he witness was quoted a purported statement
of HIROTA's that his personal idea would be to draw a line
slightly south of Tientsin and Peiping, and work out a
demilitarized zone in which neither Japanese nor Chinese
troops would be stationed. The witness stated that he
could not acknowledge the expression was correct or
accurate, word for word.

29768 * He didn't recall whether the word "recognition®
was used, but the terms nceasing of anti-Japanese movements"
and "defense against communism" were used. In the phrase,
N"The maintenance of equal rights in China", he understood
the words were "equal opportunities®.
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L B Regarding the demilitarized zone, the place to

be demilitarized was Chinese territory. Asked what right
they had to demand that Chinese troops be turned out of
Chinese territory, the witness stated there was no permanent

meaning *o that a% all. It was simply a temporary measure
" 29769 to avert possible clashes., * Japan had the right to station

troons in North China under the provisions of the Boxer

Protocol. They did this in accordance with the original

. "~ provisions, but there were some gradual departures from
the Protocol.

Asked if by 26 September 1937, they were not
covering a larse area not mentioned 1n the Protocol, the
witness stated that was as a result of hostilities.

wWith repard to the terms, recognition of Man-
chukuo, ceasing of antli-Japanese movements, and defense

| apainst communism, HIROTA had for years been trying to
“ persuade China to agree to those terms, but he was not now

r B usine the opportunity of Japanese Army successes to compel
| them to do so.

e i =

29770 * The witness understocd that HIROTA considered
this to be a most opportune moment to bring about funda-
mental peace and good will with China. It was not the
case that HIROTA was using the fact of a state of warfare
and army success to try to compel them tc adopt what they

} had not been willing to adopt in years of nzgotiztions.

: 3 It was nothing in the nature of an ultimatum,
_ and they were merely terms HIROTA had Craigle convey to

i ) . the Chinese government as his own personal views and to

e B invite the Chinese to enter into negotiaticns on the basis

| | - of the proposal. They were not proposed as a way of |

i 3 escaping from the warfare which was in progress.
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(Translation)

INTNRNATIONAL MILITARY TRIBUNAL FOR THE FAR EAST

THE UNITED STATES OF AMERICA, et al.

- R

ARAKI, Sadao, et al,

SWORN DEPOSITION

T S— ——

Deponent ¢ HORINOUCHI, Kensule.

Date of birth: March 50, 1838,
Domiciles 4-871 Snimu-fomirc, Meguro-ku, Tokyo.

Having first duly sworn an oath as on the attached shect and in
accordance with the procedure followed in iy country, I hereby depose as
follows:

(1) I received appointment as a dipleraitic attache on December 2,
1911, and remained in the diplomatic service unlil I retired on December 21,
1940. During that pericd I was appoiricd Vice-lMinister for Foreign Affairs
under Mr. Hachiro Arita, the Foreign Minister of the liirota Cabiret, on
April 10, 1936, and remained in the offlce uniil I was appointed Arbassador
to the United States on October 15, 1932, Cf {he same period, I was under
Fareign Minister Hirota in t¥s First Konoye Cabinet from June 4, 1937, to
May 26, 1936.

(2) Early in June, 1937, the Hayashi Cabinet resigned en masse, and
Prince Konoye received an Imperial mandate to form a new Cabinet. Rumours
were then abroad, in connection with the appointment of the Foreign Minister,
that the Premier was to hold an additicnal office of Foreign Minister, or that
he would select for that of fice someone outside the diplomatic circles or from
among the military. As I was then Vice-Minister for Fureign Affairs, I called
on Marquis Kido, who was the Chief Secretary to the Lord Keeper of the Privy |
Seal and was Prince Konoye's close friend, and expressed the opinion prevailing
in the Fareign Office to the effect that to have the Premier hold an
| additional post of Foreign Minister was urdesirable, and that for that post
| someone should be appointed from among those who were richly experienced 1in

‘ diplomacy, asking him to inform Prince Konoye of that opinion.

The Konoye Cabinet was formed on June 4, and Mr. Hirota was appointed
Foreign Minister to the relief of the Foreign Office staff.

I stayed, in accordance with Mr. Hirota's wishes, in the office of
Vice-Minister for Foreign Affairs, On that occasion, Mr. Hirota told me that
though he did not wish to assume the office of Foreign Minister, he was com-
pelled to accept the appointment by the ardent request of Prince Saionjl as
well as Prince Konoye.

Baron Harada, private secretary to Prince Saionji, also told me that,
by order of the Prince, then at Okitsu, he conveyed by telephone the latter's
request to Mr. Hirota in Tokyo to the effect that, as that was the first chance
for Prince Konoye to form a cabinet, and as he was little experienced in |
diplomacy, Prince Saionji desired to have Mr. Hirota, who was of rich ,
experience and sound opinions, join the Cabinet to assist the new Premier,
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(3) The negotiations between the Japanese and Chinese Governments
for improving their relations after the Manchurian Affair had been continued,
though intermittently, since 193/, or thereabouts. The two Governments took
the opportunity of :the Chrng-tu incident of August, 1936, and the Pakhoi
incident of the zame ymar to resume the negotliations sericusly in Nanking
with a view to adjusting the relations betwsen the two countries. The negotlae
tions, however, were discontinued towards the end of that year, leaving un-
settled all other questions but the aforesaid two incidents, Meanwhile, the
Suiyuan incident which took place at the erd of 1936 seemed to have flattered
the Chinese military to a triumphant feeling, ana the Sian incident which
occurred almost simultaneously was reported to heve prompted the Nationalist |
Government to adopt ihe pro-Comintern and anti-Jepanese policy. Such was the :
general trend of affairs affecting China and Japan before the Marco Polo |
Bridge incident broke out.

(4) The Fareign Office did not have the slightest inkling of this
incident., The officizl telegram reperting its outbreak reached Tokyo on
July 8, 1937, the following day. Foreign Minister Hirota was at his villa at
Kugenuma, and had already been in bed when ha received a telephone call fram
the Foreign Office, reporting the outbreal of the incident.

The Foreign Office'!s policy was to make its utmost effort in seekin-
an amicable settlencnt of thie mattzr 3¢ scon as peessible, An extracrdinary
meeting of the Cabinet council was held c¢n July 9, and decided the attitude c
the Government to holdq fast to the policy to zrrest the spread of the
disturbance, and to seek a prompt, local setblewent of the matter. This de-
cislion was made largely due to the opinion of Foreign Minister Hirota.

(5) Mearnwhile, in North China, Major-General Gun Hashimoto, the
then Chief of the Staff of the North China Stationary Force, and others
negotiated with the Chinese 29th Army, reaching an agreement at 8:00 P.M. on
the 1llth, The Chinese 29th Army accepted the tollowing demands of the
Japanese Army. |

(I) The representative of the 29th Army should express their regret,
punish the responsible, and make a vow that recurrence of such event should be
prevented.

(II) As the concentration of Chinese troops near Fengtai where
Japanese forces are stationed is liable to cause untoward incidents, the I‘
Chinese troops stationed at the citadel of the Marco Polo Bridge and
Lungwangmiao should be withdrawn, and police forces should take their places,

(III) Anti-Japanese organizations should be kept under strict
control,

These terms seemed to be carried by the Chinese into execution some-
how or cother befare July 22,

But, in the meantime, there occurred frequently skirmishes between
the Japanese and the Chinese troops, as the latter, once withdrawn, reappearc 4
in the areas in question, and the situation called for prudence and caution., '

(6) Prior to this, it was arranged that an extraordinary session

of the Cabinet council was to be held on July 11, ard it was reported that the

Army would propose preliminary measures for mobilization, The Foreign Minister
was again at his villa at Kugenuma from the evening of July 9. The programme
was immediately reported to him by telephone, and on the morning of July 11,

he arrived at Shimbashi Station around 9 o'clock. As soon as he reached the
Foreign Office, he assembled myself, East-Asiatic Director Ishii and European-
Asiatic Director Togo in his office to deliberate upon the reported Army!'s
proposal, and it was decided that the proposition should be opposed. The
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Forelpgn Minister soon attended the Cabinet meeting, and the following results
were reported afterward.

First, War Minister Sugiyama explained the plan for the preliminary
arrangements for mobilization., It was made clear by this explanation that the
plan was not to make immediately arrangements for mobilization. It might have
more preoperly be said just preparing for the preliminary arrangcments of
mobilization, It amounted to the decision of the Cabinet to invisage eventual
preparatory measures for mobilization in case the situation assumes more
serious proportions. The Fareign Minister suggested, however, that the
matter might have already been settled locally by that time, and took the posie
tion that the consideration of the Army proposal in question should be post-
poned until further reparts reached the Government,

Thus the discussion was once postponed. But, thc awaited report
being s late in coming, the Cabinet council was assembled again on the same
day and was compelled to approve the Armmy proposal which provided that, in
order to secure the apology and future guarantee by the Chinese, necessary
forces in the home land should also be mobilized while contingents from the
Kwantung Army and the Chosen Amy were to be despatched to reinforce the
North Chins Staticnary Force, and that all poszitle efforts should be made
for a peaceful setilement of the incident in conformity with the policy of
1 local settlement, and also that the despatch of the troops should immediately

be stopped when the above-mentioned object was attained and the apology and
future puarantee were fulfilled by the Chinese.

1
s
!
k

' Foreign Minister Hirota conscented to this decision with reservations
* that the despatch of troops, even when it was carried into execution, should
be exclusively for the purpose of protecting the Japancse residents and se-
curing the safety of the North China Stationary Force itsclf which was com-
paratively small in strength, and that the decision for the mobilization of
home troops was nothing more than an attitude of preparedness as contended

by the War Minister,

l (7) Holding fast to the policy of speedy local settltement of the

incident, the Foreign Office was determined to spare no effort for its

attainment, By the Forelgn Minister's order, I asked Mr. Yang Yun-chu, the

Chinese Charge d'Affaires, te cazll at thc Foreign Office on the morning of

| July 11, and called the attention of the Chinese Government to the critical
situastion in North China, urging the necessity of a quick local scttlement.
I also told him that instructions to the same effect had been given early in
that morning to the Japanese Ambassador to China.

| ——

(8) Mr. Kawagoye, the Japanese Ambassador to China, was on his
Journey to North China, at that time, leaving Shanghai on the very day of the
! outbreak of the incident, and Councillor Hidaka executed the instructions on
f his behalf., Meanwhile, we successively received authoritative reports that
the Nanking Government, in spite of our representations made at Nanking as
well as at Tokyo, were despatching reinforcements, troop after trecop, to
! North China. The Chinese 29th Amy also, probably influenced by such military
| actions of the Nanking Government, became to show a dubious attitude in
connection with the execution of the three terms of scttlement agreed upon on
July 11, The Foreign Office, thereupon, ordered Councillor Hidaka by wire on
July 16 to call upon the Nanking Government not to interfere with the execu-
tion of the three terms, and to check the northward movement of the Chinese
Central Armies. Nevertheless, the Central Armies were reported still ad-
vancing northward as before.

B T T e
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The Foreign Office, however, did not give up the hope of amicable
settlement, and had Cuireillor Hidaka pursus in earnest the negotiation in
Nanking, Unforteanialy, Liare again occurrad armed clashes beuween the
Japanese and Chine.e forces in Horth China since July 25 or 26. Tre situation
thus making sericis develupisnt s, the orders fop the mobilization of three
home divisions were at last idsued on July 27. ¥rem the early norning of the
following #8tn Orfards, ilie hostilities in Neoth China wen', on sureading,
Moreover, Shanghai el 1ty vicinily, where the situanion had been comparatively
tranquil, turneq disquicting. Thus all the etforis of Councillor Hidaka in
Nanking proved fruitless.

(10) 1In Tokyo, Mr. Deodds, the Britich Charge d'Affaires s called on
me on July 15, and aslked if Britain cculd be ot aiy service to Japan in
settling the incident., I told him in »e iy thel I thought there were prospects
of local settlemsvl, [From that day on tiil =houi vily 20, M=, Dodds came to
See me almost eynoy d2= ang keot me 10w ) Of ©he 2185 of the conversations
between Ambassador Huggessen and the Chinese Foreikn Minister, On these
occasions, I always told him Liat we lad 2ol yub prven Ly cur hope to settle
the incident locnally. On the 22nd,; fmavican Aatessador Grew made an offer to
Fareign Minister Eirota that his Coyervaent would rer Aer 1ts services, if
necessary, in the way short of mediar o« B Be Foreien Minister r'enlied
that, in the light of the actual sitwiticn o2 v ih Chice about the 19th,
there was still =ope hope that the Azrac-.ait oF Arast 11 might be carried
into execution, Actually the Japanase For < g 0itice had not Ziven up the
hope of local Setilement then, and was reliis 3 desperate efforts,

(11) It was in July that a draft of te-ms of settlement with China
was worked out as a result of the deliberation ancng the competent authorities
of the Foreign Office, the War Office and the Miristiry of the Navy, It con-
sisted of three main peints: (A) the establishment cf unfortified zones along
the River Pai-ho » and the withdrawal of Japanese anl Chinese troops from the
areas specified as such; (B) no annexation 0f territorics; ara (¢) no
indemnities. The draft was dpproved on August 5 or 6 by the sorelgn Minister,
the War Minister, the Minister of the Navy and the Premier,

(12) Early in August, Foreign Minister Hirota made up his mind to
despatch Mr., Tatsuichiro Funatsu, an aut hority on China » to Shanghai, in an
attempt at restoring peace between Japan ard China. Mr. Funatsu's mission
was to have talks, on the lines of the said peace terms decided upon in
August, with Mr, Kao Tsung-wu, the Chief of the Asiatic Bureau of the Chinese
Forelgn Office, who had a direct contact with Generalissimo Chiang Kai-shek,
Mr. Funatsu left Tokyo about August 5 » @rriving at Shanghai. on the 7th,
Ambassador Kawagoye, on the other hand » returned to his post in Shanghai al-
most at the same time, And, on deliberation between the two, it was decided
that Ambassadop Kawagoye in persoen would negotiate with Mr, Kao Tsung-wu,

The interview took place on the 8th, As the Ambassador revealed the three
terms of the August plan as his personal propositions, Mr, Kao stated that he
thought there were Prospects of peaceful settlement between Japan and China
upon these terms, and promised that he would promptly return to Nanking to make
2 report to Generalissimo Chiang Kai-shek, and then again see Ambassador
Kawagoye in Shanghai. Byt > it happened that a Japanese naval officer was
killed by Chinese soldiers on August 9 (the so-called Oyama incident ), and
from the 13th on, both Japanese and Chinese forces entering into hostilities
even in Shanghai district, the communication was utterly suspended between

Nanking ard Shanghai, The Kawagoye-Kao interview ended, in this way, without
tangible results,
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(13) Even after that, Foreign Minister Hirota did not give up his
hope to find a elue of an amicable settlement of the incident, He asked Mr,
Arita, who had been Foreign Minister in the Hirota Cabinet, to go to Shanghai

there for some time to seize a chance of having informal talks with them,

Mr. Arita accepted it, and, on deliberation between the two ) 1t was so arranged
that he would first visit Manchuria and North China » Staying there until the
Foreign Minister wired him and let him know the proper time to start for
Shanghai, Mr, Arita left Tokyo on August 28 on his tour of inspection in
Manchuria, Peking, Tientsin and other places, but » a8 the situation did not
take a favourable turn for his visit to Shanghai as expected, he was compellce
tc leave Dairen for Tokyo at the end of September,

(14) It was in September after the Kawagoye-Kao conversation proved
failure that the Competent Chiefs of Bureaus of the Foroign QOffice y the Yar
Cffice and the Ministry of the Navy assembled to talk over how to deal with
the peace problem thereafter, reaching an agrecment that » 1f the endeavour
after pcace was to be continued at all, there was no other way for it but to
ask for the good offices of a third power to fing settlement with China on the
terms of the August plan, This opinion was presented to the Goverwment, and
Was appreoved hy the Premier, the Foreign Minister, the Vor Minister and the
Minister of the Navy,

Almost at the same time as the above, the Chicfs of the BDureaus con-
cerned assembled, by the orders of the Ministers concerned , to discuss the
policy which the Covernment was to adopt in connection with the various
problems of the Chima Affair, They, however s could not attain agreement on two
or three points, Thereupon, I conferred with the Viee-Ministers of War and
of the Navy, and settled the pointe, This was decided as the policy of the
Government on QOctober 1, with the approval of the Premier, the Foreign Minister,
the War Minister and tho Minister of the Navy. The point which demands our
Special attention is that this "Shina-Jihen Trisho Yoko" (The Gist of the
Policy for the Settlement of the China Arfair) stipulated (a) to bring the
China Affair to the quickest possible conclusion, (b) to act strictly in con-
formity with the international law, (e¢) to limit the sCene of battle chiefly
within the provinces of Hopei and Chahal as woll a8 Shanghai district » amd (d)
to strive for the Settlanent of the North China question along the lines of
policy that the said aren should be placed under the administration of the
Chinese Central Government, ,

(15) On Septamber 21, the League of Nations requested the Japanese
Covernment to parti cipate in the Twenty-Three Power Consultative Commi ttee,
Japan, however, hag Secceded from the League on March <7, 1933, Since then, it
ad maintained a firm attitude not to participate in any political activity
of the League of Nations, Moreover, the people of Japan secemed to harbour a
strong hostile feeling against it ever af'ter the Manchurian Affair, Under
such circumstances, it was quite impossible that the League's request of
September 21 should be accepted by the Japanese public opinion, The Japanese
Government, thereupon, made = reply on September 25 to the effect that it could
not accept the saiq request of the League of Nations,

accordance with the provisions of Article VII of the Nine Power Pact, But the
public opinion of Japan was strongly against the participation in the said
Conference. As it was considered by the Japanese people, that the said
Conference was nothing but an extension of the activity of the League of
Nations, the Japarese people's feeling against it was all the more hostile,

As Ambassador Grew writes in his "Ten Years in Japan," the politica)l parties as
well as newspapers were in one, in effect, in opposing to Japan's participating
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in the Brussels Conference, and the Japanese Government was compelled to reply
to the Belgian requests of October 20 and November 7, on October 27 and

November 12 respectively, that 1T could not aczcept the same. With respect
to Article VII of the Nine Power Pact, the Forelgn Office authorities held

the following interpretation:

Article VII of the Nine Power pPact runs: "The contracting Powers
agree that whenever a situation arises which in the opinion of any one of
them involves the applicalion of the stipulations of the present Treaty, and
renders desirable discussron of such acprication, there should be full and
frank communication beutwwen the contracbing Powars concerned.” Either in the
light of the wording of the Aptisle or in cunsideration of the circumstances
urder which the said Article was referred to Jiscussion at the first meeting
of the Subcommittee for the Pacific ard Far Eastern Problems of the

" Washington Conference (held on [ebiruwry 2, 19232), it is evident that "communica.

tion" here means communication in ary form, aii notv necessarily that in the
form of conference. Aoreover, the nroceedings of the said Subcommittee show
that the comminication sheuld be madz, as & penoral Tule, through ordinary
diplomatic chanwels, end the communicacion in wie form of conference is not
in the least expecued.

In accordance with such interpretation, the Foreign Office under-
stood that to reject the participation tha Brussels Conference was not
against the provisions of the Nine Pownr Paci inasinuch as the participation
was expected to be detrimental to the inbernal efraies of Jopan,

 (16) Early in September, Rpii ish Ambassador Craigie arrived at his
post in Tokyo. He was such an enterpricing man that he set about settling
the case of Ambassador Hugzessen S vt L1t oF mzust 26 as soon as he took
up his duties. He had frank talks wili Yice.slniral Yamamoto, the Vice-
Minister of the Navy, znd ngselfl, guccecding in solving the problem soon.

On October 27, the Foreipgn Minister, in an individual interview
with the Ambassadors of Britain, the United States, Germany and Italy, told
them that the Japanese Government could not accept the invitation to the
Brussels Conference, but desired to have either cof the four powers use its
good offices for bringing about direct pcace negotiations between Japan and
China upon the terms of the August plan. And, as the British Ambassador soon
called upon the Foreign Minister and informed him of his Government's willing
ness to use its goed offices for negotiations between the two countries, the
Foreign Minister accepted. Between them there were several exchanges of views
concerning terms of settlement. But, as it was realized afterwards that there
was strong opposition within the Army against Britain acting as a go-between,
the scheme had to be held in abeyance.

4 similar offer was made also by American Ambassador Grew almost at
the same time, though on condition that both Governments of Japan and China
asked for it. This cffer of the American Ambassador, however, did not
materialize after all.

(17) The Army maintained to ask for the good offices of the German
Covernmeht. But the Foreign Minister hesitated, as hc doubted if the services
of the German Government alone, which did not have strong voice in China, were
really effectual, In the meantime, British Ambassador Craigie made a sug-
gestion for the joint services of Britain, the United States and Germany, for
fear of the inefficacy of the efforts of the single-harded Germany., The
Army's objection against the participation of Britain and the United States,
however, was too obvious. The Foreign Minister, thereupon, asked Ambassador
Craigie to take the initiative in requesting Germany to let the other powers
participate in the attempt, for it was expected that, inasmuch as Germany
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herself agreed to act in concert with Britain and the United States, the Ary
also might possibly consent to their cooperation, But, it was réported
later, by Ambassador Craigie that, in response to his request he was told by
the German Ambassedor te the effect that, as tl.e approach to the Chinese
Government still rawined in the stage of sounding, consideration would be
given later toc the proposal of Brita'n and the United States after it
attained the stage that China responded to the Japanese efforts,

One day in Decenber, the Foreign Minister received a personal
letter from German Arbassador Pirksen saying that he had an important mattep
to discuss with the F.oreign Minigter, ani %a® be wished to invite the
Foreign Minister to tea, as he cculd not pet out on account of illness. The
Foreipm Minister called upon the Germun Arbessades y and was told that, when
Herr Trautmann, the German Ambassador to China, met Generalissimo Chiang Kale
shek on December 2, the head of the Chinese Coveriment revealed he had no
objection to starting peace negotiations on the basis of the Japanese terms,
And Dirksen asked the Fareign Minister if therc was no alteration in the
peace terms of the August plan yet.

1 (18) The Foreign Minister, therenpon, had the Director of East
Aslatic Bureau confer with the competent authorities of the War Office and
the Ministry of the Navy, and it was made clear that both the Army and the
Navy had no objection to the peace tgrins of the August plan,

The question, however, had to be submitted to the Liaison Conference
of the Government and the Ammy and the Navy which had been set up a little
before that, amd it was placed on the agenda for the meeting of December 20,
The fall of Nanking on December 13 had considerably stiffened the general
feelings of the Japanese public towards China. Drastic opinions often
appeared in the newspapers. As a matter of course s the Liaison Conference
could not but be influenced by such circumstances. Home Minister Suyetsugu,
for example, was supparted by such general feelings. Claiming to give a
smashing blow to China, he was known for his drastic attitude towards China,
and was naturally against the peace negotiation itself, Unprecedentedly as
Home Minister, he attended the December 20 meeting of the Liaison Conference
which was held to deliberate upon the peace terms for China. He layed an
extremely strong opinion before the Conference y and, after a heated dis-
cussion, the Conference decided upon the four funjamental terms of peace fop
China, which were naturally far less compromising than those of the August
pl&n-

The four terms were as follows:

1) The Chinese Government is requested to give up its pro-
Comintern and anti-Japanese, anti-Manchoukuo policy, and cooperate with Japan
and Manchoukuo in their anti-Comintern policy.,

2) Unfortified zones shall be set up in needed areas, and special
administrative machineries shall be established in the said areas.

3) Close economic relations shall be created among Japan,
Manchoukuo and China, '

. &) The Chinese Government is requested to make necessary
reparations,

The Japanese Government expected the reply to the above to be given
before January 5 or 6 of the following year.
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(19) These four terms of peace were presented to Ambassador Dirksen
with a detailed explanation. They were submitted to the Chinese Government
through Ambassador Trautmann on Decenber 26, but no reply was obtained by the
appointed date,

The Foreign Office urged the veply several times through the German
Government, and as late as January 13. ihe Chinese Fareign Minister replled to
German Ambassadar Trauvtmsnn to the effuct thaut, as the Japanese peace terms
covered too vide a scone, the Chinese Coverament wished to know their further
details in order to raim the final declsion thercel. Ambassador Iirksen con-

o - - - '
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As to the contents of the frur fundemental terms, however, a de-
tailed explanation had already Le=n given tinough the Cerman Government, It
was quite incomprehensible to us that the Chinere Goverrment shouald nake a
request to know the contents of the terms to furbher cetails, In the light
of the progress of the past negotiaviins betwzen the two Governmenle since
the outbreak of the insident, the Jacinecge Covarmnaent could not bub regard in
as an artifice to delsy the settlemernl ¢t vviopese. The Forelgn Office was
greatly discouraged by tais reply of tne Chinese Government.,

The reply of the Chinese Foreign !nister was brought up for dis-
cussion at the Cabinet council of Jevuvs:vy 15, The council also regarded it
as an artifice to delay intentionally tie s=iullement K of the incident, end
had to decide to close the negotiilicn, The dzclurcevion 'mot to dzal with
the Nationalist Government hereafter' wed made i thls way on January 16,

(20) I should like to relate, by the way, what I know about the
circumstances which caused the Jayrsziwes2 Cove=»mnznt to use, in the manifesta-
tion of its seriocus intention, svch & ¢oliwc. . L expression as '"mot to deal
with the Nationalist Govevrnenn heos:fler, .1 ch is not necessarily clear in
meaning. It was first prowos«d o use zn s4zcession "to discontinue the |
negotiation", at the conferencs of the compctent authorities of the Ministries
concerned. But the Fareign Office oppocea to using such a plain and definite
expression, and it was decized, after careful ccnsideration, that the more or
less vague expression as the above-ment tuvined showid be adopted. This is a
proof that the Japanese Foreign Office had the intenlion to leave scope enough
to resumes the negotiation for pecace with the Natioralist Government, In March
of that year, the Italian anthorities at Shanghei franuently transmitted to
the Japanese Pmbassy there the intention of the Naticrnalist Government con-
cerning the peace terms which was sounded by the Italian Councillor then at
Hankao. Amd I remenber Foreign Minister Hirola gave a taclt consent to the
Japanese Embassy in China keeping in touch with the Italian diplomatic au-
tharities. Also his successor General Ugakl had Consul-General Nakamara
negotiate in Hongkong for peace with Mr., Chiao Fu San acting for Dr. Kung
Hsiang-hsi, head of the Administrative Yuan of the Chinese Government,
several times in June, 1938,

(21) Foreign Minister Hirota always gave careful consideration to
safeguarding the interests of the third powers in China. Even after the out-
break of the incident, he mentioned it several times in the announcements of
the Government, and actually exerted all his efforts in its favour. I can
cite a striking instance of such efforts of the Foreign Minister. In April
or May, 1938, he ordered me, in response to an offer of the British Government,
to discuss with Ambassador Craigie the questions regarding the maintenance of
the Chinese customs system and the modification of tariff. We met several
times, and, as a result, an agreement, satisfactory to both partiecs, was on-
cluded, and made public, This agreement restrained the modification of the
tariff rates, in the light of the real state of things in those days, within
a certain limit so that it might not be against the interests of the third
powers., It also aimed at forestalling the seizure of the Chinese customs by
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the Japanese Army, Ambassador Craigic had kept close contact with the
Ambassedars of the United States and Frouca before the agrecment was arrived
at, and the British Arbassodsr coni leatially told me that both countries
had nc oljectlcn to {12 said agreemant. In thie vy, rorelrn Minister Hirota
" exerted nis efforis io keop Lhe otfects of military measures upor. the
~ _Anterests of tle irire powers withii the laast Lin. t, thrcugh negetiations
i et yna
PRGN
(21} Tre oviginsls 83 woll es the copies of the telegrams referred
to in the precanmt dupovinion, in (7) and {2), taving been lost in. ¥ fire,
they are uot fouwwi in e filoe 02 $he postelen Officea
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On this 21st day of August, 1947, at Tokyo.
(Signed) Kensuke Horinouchi (Seal)
Sworn to and subscribed before me on the abvove-mentioned date and
place,

(Signed) Goro Morishima (Seal)

Witnecs
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OATH
R In accordance with my conscicnce I swear to tell thd whole truth
| withholding nothing and adding nothing.

(Signed) Kensuke Horinouchi (Seal)
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(Translation)

INTERNATIONAT, KILITARY TRTIBUNAL FOR THE TFAR EAST

THE UNITED STATES OF AMERICA, et al.
- VB -

ARAKI, Sadao, et al.

SWORN DEEROSITION
Deporent: HORINOUCHI, Kensuke.
Date of birth: March 30, 1886. '
Domicile: - 871 Shimo-Msguro 4chome, Meguvro-ku, Tokyo.

Having first dily sworn an oath as on the attached sheet and in
accordance with the procedure followed in our country, I hereby depose 2s
follows:

(1) I was gppointed diplomatic attache on Noveiber 2, 1911, and
remained in the diplomatic service until I retired from office on December 21,
1940. During that period, I was in the office of Chief of the Second Section,
Bureau of BEuropean and American Affairs, undsr M, dlcta, Koki, as
Director of the said Bureau, from September, 1523, io December of the same
year, and then in the office of Director of the Cureau of Investigation and
Research and Director of the Bureau of American Affairs under Foreign
Minister Hirota from March, 1934, to March, 1936. Then I was appointed
. Vice-Minister for Fareign Affairs in April, 1936, and remained in that
of fice until October 15, 1938, when I was appointed Ambassador to the
United States. As Vice-Minister for Foreign Affzirs, I served under
Foreign Minister Arita of the Hirota Cabinet from April, 1936, to February,
1937, and under Fareign Minister Hirota in the Konoye Cabinet, from June,

(2) The conclusion of the Anti-Comintern Pact was originated in
the diplomatic opinions held by Foreign Minister Arita of the Hirota Cabinet.
Mr. Arita had always been aware of the existence among Japanese chauvinistic
element s who propagandized opening war against €he Soviet, and always been
of opinion that the Communists'! activity in China is a thing that must be
closely watched from Japanese standpoint. He, however, entertained a firm
belief, obtained through his long career as & diplomat as well through his
earnest study of political affairs of Europe, that Japan should maintain
friendly relations with the Soviet Union. He was ordered home in October,
1936, to be appointed Ambassador to China, Immediately before he left
Furope, he made a tour round Germany and Poland for a short period. And he
was told, by Minister Ito and Military Attache Yamawaki at Warsaw as well
as by Military Attache Oshima at Berlin, that the military power of the
Soviet Union should by no means be slighted, to the confirmation of his old

belief.

Mr, Arita regarded it necessary to take precautions against the
activity of the Soviet Government i the Far East, and entertained also an
opinion that the Japanese Government should naturally make some political
arrangement with Germany, which was similarly interested in the activity of
the Soviet Union. He felt, further, the necessity of alleviating the sense
of international isolation prevalent among the Japanese general public after
the Manchurian affair, and cpnsidered that the rapprochement between Japan
ard Germany was the most efféctual way for that purpose.
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The above statement is based upon what I was told directly by Mr,

Arita,

(3) Mr. Arita, after arriving in Tokyo in January, 1936, was )

appointed Ambassador to China, and reached Shanghai toward the end of
February. In the middle of March, however, hc was ordered home to be
g appointed Foreign Minister in the Hirota Cabinet, He took office as ,
Fareign Minister on April 2, amd, shortly after that » 1 was appointed Vice-
Minister for Foreign Affairs. At that time, he had an interview with
Ambassador Mushakoji, who was just leaving Japan again to return to his
post in Berlin, On that occasion, the Foreign Minister revealed the above
¢ B mentioned views of his Brussels days, and told the Ambassador that he con-
| sidered it necessary to take some steps towards Germany. And at the be-

ginning of May, sbout one month after the Ambassador left Tokyo, Foreign
| Minister Arita ordered him by wire that he should sound the intention of the

German Government about the project to make a political rapprochement in a

vague and elastic formula, without limiting the subject, between Japan and
! Germany, It was through submitting a draft of this telegraphic instruction |
that the Foreign Minister first revealed to Premier Hirota his intention to
bring about a rapprochement betwecen Japan and Germany. And, so far as I
know, such rapprochement had never been considered during the period when
Mr. Hirota was Foreign Minister in the preceding Cabinct or when he
[ temporarily held the additional office of Forelgn Minister in his own
Cabinet priar to the appointment of Mr. Arita.

—— R e —

Mr. Yoshida, newly appointed Ambassador to Britain, also had a
talk with the Foreign Minister early in May, Jjust before he left Tokyo.
The Foreign Minister asked him, on that occasion, to strive for the political
rapprechement of the same nature between Japan and Britain.

(4) Telegraphic reports were received from Ambassador

Mushakodi = at Berlin considerably frequently, in connection with the in-
| structions of the beginning of May, informing the Foreign Minister that
; time seemed to be ripe within Germany for the rapprochement with Japan,
| The negotiations made a rapid progress, and early in July the Ambassador
reparted by wire that a draft of the Japanese-German Anti-Comintern Pact
] was submitted to him by the German Government, The draft had a preamble

h appearing unnecessarily hostile against the Soviet Union., The annexed |
agreement, which was later made secrct agreement in accordance with the '
wishes of the Japanese Government, was not to be kept secret in the first
proposal, It may be said in this connection that the above-mentioned tele- '
graphic reports of Ambassador Mushakoji  were found, on examination, to '
have been lost in the fire, the originals as well as the copies,

The Foreign Office gave a careful consideration to the Cerman pro-
posal from the following two viewpoints. The preamble appearing unnecessarily
hostile against the Soviet Union was amended, together with two or three
other wordings which required modification.

(1) Whereas the Soviet-German relations were comparatively simple,
the Soviet-Japanese relations were complicated and delicate , Wwith their
questions of boundary lines and of treaties for fishing rights and other
concessions. Precautions were necessary, therefore, not to stimulate the
Soviet Union unduly, so that the coalition between Japan and Germany might
not provoke hostilities between Japan and the Soviet Union. ‘

(2) It was also necessary not to cause undue uneasiness to the
Powers, especially to Briiaia, through the coslition between Japan and
Gcmny'n
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In the meantime, a conference was held in this connection among
the authorities of the Fareign Office, the War Office and the Navy Ministry,
and we found that there was a strong objection within the Army against the
rapprochement between Japan and Britain. The Foreign Office maintained that
1t was not advisable to conclude a political agreement of this kind ex-
clusively with Germany, and that similar agreements should be concluded also
with other Powers, especially with Prdtain. Tt was 2100 added that the
Fareign Office had no objection to proceecing with the nepobiation with
Germany first, which had already made a considerable nrogress, if there
were difficulties in concluding agreements with Britain at the same time
with Germany. This conference of the competent authorities of the three
ministries, however, did not reach a perfect accord,

Such belng the sitwuation, a conference was held on July 24, at the
of ficial residence of the For elgn Minister, between the responsible heads
of the Foreign Office and the War Office., TForeign Minister Arita, myself
and Dircctor Togo of the Muropean-Asiatic Bureau atterded the conference on
behalf of the Foreign Office y while War Minister Terauchi s Vice-Minister
Umezu and Nirector Machijiri of the Bureau of Militery Affairs came from
the War Office. The above-mentioned opinion of the Foreign Office was sub-
mitted to this conference in writing, and careful consideration vas given to
ity This document hzd been draw: up by Director Togo in accordance with the
orders of the Foreipn Minister., It is reported, upon examination, that a
copy of this document is still preserved in the files of the Foreign Office,

The military authorities raised a gtrong objection to the
rapprochement between Japan and Britain at first, but the Foreign Office
maintained that, so long as the Army did not consent to the rapprochement
between Japan and Brdtain, the Forcign Cffice would not proceed with the
negotiation with Germany., At last the Army yielded, and Foreisn Minister
Arita, together with War Ministor Terauchi, signed thie document in token of
their agreement,

(5) The Anti-Comintern Pact was concluded » through sucn process,
on November 25, 1936, Some reople misunderstood this Pact to be of
aggressive nature, because of the seerot agreement anncxed to it, But it
was by no means of such nature, as the conterts of the seeret agreement
prove 1t. The Pact in question was (riginally proposed by the German
Govemment, and when it was first submittcd to the Japanese Government, the
annexed agreement was not to he kept in secret. It was made a secret asree-
ment only in asccardance with the dosire of the Japanegse Government vhich
feared to stimulste the Soviet Union unduly thereby,

In the opinion of the Foreipn Office, it was a matter of common
knowledge to the majority of the nations of the vorld that the activity of
the Communist Intermaticnal was in reality backed by the Soviet Government.
There could be, of course, various ways of backing its activity, but it was
altogether possibls that the Support might be lent by armed force. And it
was especlally so in the Far East whore the activity of the Chinese Communist
Force was virulent. It was indecd such fear which drove the Japanese Govern-
ment to conclude the annexed agreement in question,

(6) As rcgards the rapprochement between Japan and Britain,
Ambassador Yoshida, on arriving in Pritain in June, 1956, sct about sounding
the intentions in this conncction of those peonle reoresenting various
spheres of activity there. His telegraphic reports not a little encouraged
the Foreign Office, theugh his =fforts did not go beyond the stzge of
sounding yet. Meanvhile, the K_elung incident occurred in October, and,
nampered by this incident, the situation had not made encugh development to
start a concrete negotiation with the Eritish Government upon thigs problem,
when the conclusion of the Japanese-German Anti-Comintern Pact was officially
anncunced in November. This Pact was very unpopular with the British general
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public., To tell the truth, the Forcign Office had expected that West-
Furcpean Powers and the United States » vhich were exercising caution against
the activity of the Communist International, would welcome the conclusion of
the said Pact, and that a favourable effect would be brought upon the desired
rapprochement between Japan and Britain, For, the actions taken at the
Seventh General Mecting of the Communist International held at Moscow in
July and August of 1935 had arouscd caution on the part of 211 the non-
communistic powers of the world, and protests hud been 1locged with the Soviet
Government by the Govérnments of Britain, the United States and other
countries, The United States Government had made the strongest protest on
the ground that the said actims taken by the Communist International imply
the violation of the pledge vhich the Soviet CGovernment had given not to
interferc in the intermal affairs of the United States., It was accordingly
the intention of the Foreign Office to start negotiations for the rapproche-
ment with the British Government as soon as the Japanese-German Anti-
Comintern Pact be concluded, This intention of the Japanese Government had
already been conveyed to the German Government while the negotiation was
progressing at Berlin, and the latter had given its consent to the intention.
Ambassador-at-Large Ribbentrop, who was expected to start for his new post in
London as German Ambassador upon the completion of his work with the Anti-
Comintern Pact, emhatically cxpressed his desirc te take hhe initiative in
this negotiation ns socn as he arrived at the capital of Britain, Thc
Japinesc Government agreed to his desire.  Though the Japanese-German Anti-
Comintern Pact wns unpopular as stated above, yet our Foreign Office expected
that this misunderstanding might swely be removed through Ribbentrop's
efforts. WNeverthcless, his activity in Britain agsravated the unpopularity
of thc said Pact all the more contrary to owr cxpecctation, and the Foreign
Office had to withhold for a while the affort at the rapprochcment between
Japan and Britain,

The Hi Cabinet resigned en messc in February, 1937, but I re-
mained in Ule/gﬁgﬁm‘vicc-ﬁnistcr for Foreign Affairs., In June of the
samc ycar, the Konoye Cabinet was formed s and Mr, Hirota returned to the
Foreign Office as Minister again, I was Vicc-Minister for Foreign Affairs
under him, He had not lost his zezl for the rapprochement with Britain » the
cffort at vhich had once been vithheld by the Japancse Government, T will
rofer to this, later, as I procecd te the axplanation of the circumstances
of the negotiations with the Ttalian Government for 2 Japanese-Italian Anti-
Comintern Pact, It may be said in pasuing that T cxamined the files of the
Fereign Officc for the telegraphic reports of Ambassador Yoshida which arc
referred to in the present statemsnt to find that thoy had been lost in the
fire, the originals as well as the copics. But 2 confidential document of
the Foreipn Office, "Business Report for the Year 1936 (Book II » Chapter 6:
The Effarts at the Rapprochement betwecn Japan and Britain)" submitted by
Dircctor Togo of thc Huropcan-Asiatic Bureau on December 1, 1936, describing
the gencral progress of the negotiations for the rapprochcment between Japan
and Britain procceded by the Japanesc Government and Ambassador Yoshida at
London cscaped the fire, and is stil] preserved there,

(7) We had alrecady conveyed to all our important Ambassadors and
Ministers abrozd the Foreign Office's policy to conclude political agrecments,
not too much restrictive in naturec, with as many countriecs as possible. 1In
accardance with this policy » Charge d'Affairs Yamaguchi of our Legation at
Hague wanted to set about negotiations with the Netherlands Government in the
autumn of 1936, and =2sked for instructions of the Foreign Office, which, in
reply, wired its complisnce to him, He met the competent Netherlands au-
thorities several times during the period from the middle of October to the
end of the same month. On thesec occasions » he proposed, in conformity with
the instructions of the Japanese Government, to conclude an agreement between
the Governments of Japan and Netherlands with a view to exchanging information
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concerning the suppression of the activity of the Communist International
chiefly in the Netherlands East Indies, and also to have the home land of the
Netherlands included within the scope of the said agreement, if the circum-
stances admitted. It was really expected, as a result of the negotiations
at Hague, that such agreement would be concluded somehow or other, But,

the official announcement of the conclusion of the Japanese-German Anti-
Comintern Pact suddenly cooled down the zeal of the Netherlands CGovernment,
and brought the negotiations to a standstill.

The telegrams referred to here were found, upon investigation, to
have been lost in the fire; the originals as well as the copies do not now
exist in the files of the Foreign Office, But a confidential document of |
the Foreign Office, "Business Report for the Year 1936 (Book III, Chapter 1,
Section iv: The Preliminary Conversations for the Japanese-Dutch Anti-
Comintern Pact)", which is still existing, has the description of the general
rogress of the preliminary conversations for a Japanese-Dutch Anti-Comintern
Pact held between Charge d'iAffaires Yamaguchi and the competent Netherlands

authorities.,

(8) In November, 1936, immediately after the conclusion of the
Japa nese-Germen Anti-Comintern Pact, the Italian Government desired to con-
clude a similar agreement between the Governments of Japan and Italy, and
Fareign Minister Ciano approached our fAmbassader Sugimura several times with
the proposal,

The Hirota Cabinet, however, took a very prudent attitude in this
connection, in consideration of the unpopularity with the West-Buropean
nations 'of the Japanese-German Anti-Comintern Pact. The Government considered
that to conclude a similar pact with the Italian Government immediately after
the signing of the Japanese-German Pact would stimulate Britain all the mere,
and feared that it might render the question of the rapprochement between
Japan and Britain quite difficult. But, cn the other hand, 1t vas by no means
desirable to provoke antipathy of the Itaslian Covernment for that, and also
it had to be taken into consideration that the Japanese public opinion con-
siderably sympathetic for Ethiopia had rendered the relations between Japan
and Italy rather unsmooth. Such being the circumstances, the Japanese (Govern-
ment took a2 rather evasive attitude in connection with the proposal of the
Italian Covemment, We indeed felt sorry for !mbassador Sugimura who wes
exerting all his efforte in improving the rclations between Japan and Italy,
but it could not be helped. It was with the intention to alleviate the
dif ficulty which Ambassador Sugimura was facing in Italy then that the Govern-
ments of Japan and Italy announced almost simultaneously that Japan was to J
close its Legation in Lthiopia and establish a consulate in its stead, while
Italy was to open a consulate at Mukden in Manchoukuo, This step taken by
the Japanese Government amounted to de facto recognition of the annexation §
of Ethiopia by Italy. In this connection, the Foreign Office deliberated care- 1
fully upon the reaction this step might cause on the Anglo-Japanese relations,
recaching the conclusion that Japan might safely take the above-mentioned i
measure. Britain also took a similar measure, as I remember, shortly after
that,

In February, 1937, the Hirota Cabinet resigned en masse, and the
Hayashi Cabinet succeeded it, But the attitude of the Japanese Government re-
mained unchanged as far as the question of the Japanese-Italian Anti-Comintern
Pact was concerned., I was again Vice-Minister for Foreign Affairs in the new
Cabinet under Foreign Minister Sato, Meanwhile, the Italian Government con-
tinued to approach the Japanese Government with the same proposal, and Am-
bassador Sugimura was in an awkward position, Toward the end of May, however,
he was transferred to Paris, and lir. Hotta succceded him in the office of
Japanese Ambassador to Italy,

i
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The Hayashi Cabinet was short-lived. In June, the First Konoye
Cabinet was formed, in which Mr. Hirota was Foreign Minister. 1 remained,
again, in the office of Vice-Minister for Foreign Affairs under him.

Ambassador Hotta procecded to Rome at the end of June or at the
beginning of July. - Immediately before the Ambassador left Tokyo, Forelgn
Vinister Hirota revealed to the Anbassador that he was, then, at pains to
realize the rapprochement between Japan and Britain, and requested that the
Ambassador should "stamp his feet!" as before with Italy. This I was told by
Ambassador Hotta in person.

A month had hardly elapsed after the formaticn of the Konoye
Cabinet when the China Affair broke out. On account of this incident, Japan
became gradually unpopular with the peoples of the world, especially with
those of Britain and the United States. And, accordingly, there was little
hope of success of the negotiations for the rapprochement between Japan and
Britain, which was already two years old. In the meantime, the Foreign
Office could not afford to offend Italy by keeping such an evasive attitude
as stated above vith respect to the question of the Japanese-Italian Anti-
Comintem Pact which had lagged on for about cne year.

In Jepan, the sense of international isolation, which had haunted
the Japanese general public sirce the outbreak of the Manchurian Affair, was
now felt all the more keenly through the unpopularity of the China Affair,
within the Cabinet as well as within the Amy, therc were some people who
msintained to strengthen the relations between Japan and Italy. On the
other hand, the Government of Italy also urged Ambassador Hotta to resume
the negotiations which had been started between Foreign Minister Ciano ard
Ambassador Suglnura, And it was the opinion of the Italian Covernment at
first that the agrecment to be concluded betwcen Japan and Italy should be
omething. in the nature of neutrality and consultation treaty. The Japanese
Foreign Office again inquired into the repercussion that the conclusion of
such agreement. might cguse upon the relations petween Japan and Britain,
reaching a conclusion that even the Itallan proposal went too far, and that
an anti-Comintern pact of the same nature with the Japanese-Cerman Anti-
Comintern Pact (exclusive of the Annexed Seeret Agreement) should be can-
cluded between Japan and Italy, apart from the Japanese-German Pact. The
Cabinet decided upon this policy at the beginning of October, We also
ourded the intention of the German Government, and realized that Forelgn
Minister von Neurath had no objection to that. Thus, tie signing of the
Pact was arranged between Foreign kinister Ci&no and Ambassador Hotta.
However, the German Government, malnly at the instance of Ambassador
Ribbentrop, suddenly proposed to have Italy participate in the Japanese-
German Pact. The Japanese Foreign Office was rather annoyed by the offer
of the Cerman Government, fearing that Japan might commit itself more i 1t
yielded to the Germen proposal, It was also said that Italian Foreign
Minister Ciano expressed his dissatis faction with the German proposal. But,
it was decided, upon deliberation among Japan, Germany and Italy, to have
Italy participate in the Japanese-German Anti-Comintern Pact as an original
signatory in order to save her face, and Italy signed the Pact on December 9
at Rome. This perticipation of Italy, however, had nothing to do with the
Secret Agreement annexed to the said Japanese-German Pact, as the Secret
Agrccrent was not disclosed to the Italian Government.,
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(9) Mr. Hirota was not concorned in the conclusion of the Japanese-
German-Italian Tripartite Pact. It is true that we eometimes heard of
certain advocates of the Japanese military during the period “rom the last

days of the Okada Cabinet to the beginning of the Hirota Cabinet, prior to
the commencement of the nego*iations for the Japanesc-Cerman &nui-Comintern

Pact. But such were, in fact, officers of comparatively junior classcs. The
exccutives of the Japanese Army were said to be opposed to them,

The idea of such Japanesc-German military alliance was not in the

lecast revealed to the Farcien Office by the Army while Mr. Hirota was in the
office of Foreign Minister in the Konoye Cabinet. Such was indced out of

question for the wecutive of thc Foreign Office.

(10) The committee provided in the protocol attached to the
Japanese-German Anti-Comintern Pact of November 25, 1936, was not established
while I remained in the office of Vice-NMinister for Foreign Affairs, It has
never been established, as I understand, even after my transfer from that

office on October 15, 1938,
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. = ' On thié 20th day of August, 1947, at Tokyo, ?
- (Signed) HCRINOUCHI, Kensuke (Seal) i

. Sworn to and subscribed before me on the above-mentioned date and

. place.

o ' (Signcd) MORISHIMA, Goro (Seal) . - |
{ ' ‘Witncss |

- QATH |

| In accordance with my conscicnce I swear to tell the whole truth _f
withholding nothing and adding nothing, '.;

(Signed) HORINOUCHI, Kensuke (Scal)
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